Aus dem Deutschen Diabetes Zentrum Leibniz-Zentrum für Diabetesforschung an der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf Direktor: Univ.-Prof. Dr. Michael Roden

# Association between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and nerve conduction in individuals with recently diagnosed type 1 and type 2 diabetes.

Dissertation

Zur Erlangung des Grades eines Doktors der Medizin der Medizinischen Fakultät der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf

> Vorgelegt von Imke Schamarek 2018

Als Inauguraldissertation gedruckt mit Genehmigung der Medizinischen Fakultät der Heinrich-Heine Universität Düsseldorf.

gez.:

Dekan: Professor Dr. Nikolaj Klöcker Erstgutachter: PD Dr. Christian Herder Zweitgutachter: Professor Dr. Matthias Schott

# Dedication

Dedicated to Annegret und Georg Schamarek

Teile dieser Arbeit wurden veröffentlicht:

<u>Schamarek I.</u>, Herder C., Nowotny B., Carstensen-Kirberg M., Straßburger K, Nowotny P., Strom A., Püttgen S., Müssig K., Szendrödi J., Roden M., Ziegler D. (2016). Adiponectin, markers of subclinical inflammation and nerve conduction in individuals with recently diagnosed type 1 and type 2 diabetes. *European Journal of Endocrinology*, *174(4)*: 433-43.

### Abstract

Subclinical inflammation has been implicated in the development of diabetic distal sensorimotor polyneuropathy (DSPN), but the definition of DSPN varied in previous studies focussing on different aspects of DSPN (symptoms, signs or nerve conduction studies (NCS)). Studies using NCS to assess DSPN are scarce and only few studies have been conducted applying recommended composite scores which include a combination of symptoms, signs and NCS as well as sum scores of NCS of different nerves. The aim of the present study is to investigate the association between biomarkers reflecting different aspects of subclinical inflammation and DSPN assessed as motor and sensory nerve conduction velocity (NCV) as well as sum scores of each modality and a composite score combining symptoms, signs and NCS.

513 individuals with recently diagnosed type 2 (n=352) or type 1 (n=161) diabetes were included in a cross-sectional analysis of the baseline population of the observational German Diabetes Study. Biomarkers of subclinical inflammation were assessed using serum samples, including acute-phase proteins (hsCRP), proinflammatory cytokines (IL-6, IL-18), anti-inflammatory adipokines (total, high-molecular-weight [HMW] adiponectin) and soluble adhesion molecules as markers of endothelial dysfunction (sICAM-1, sE-selectin). Motor NCV (median, ulnar, peroneal nerve) and sensory NCV (median, ulnar, sural nerve) were assessed and NCV sum scores of each modality were calculated. Associations between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and NCV and presence of DSPN (as a combination of symptoms, signs and electrophysiological measures) were estimated using multiple linear and logistic regression models.

High serum IL-6 was associated with the presence of DSPN and reduced motor NCV but not sensory NCV in type 2 but not type 1 diabetes. In addition, high serum total and HMW adiponectin as well as their ratio were associated with the presence of DSPN and decreased motor and sensory NCV in type 2 diabetes. In type 1 diabetes high serum adiponectin was associated with higher motor NCV. Inconsistent associations were observed for hsCRP, IL-18 and adhesion molecules of which IL-18 and sICAM-1 were positively associated with sensory NCV in type 2 diabetes only.

Results indicate an implication of IL-6 in the slowing of motor NCV and DSPN in type 2 diabetes. Reverse associations of adiponectin with DSPN and NCV in type 1 versus type 2 diabetes suggest that the pathogenesis of DSPN may be diverging in these different types of diabetes in the course of which subclinical inflammation seems to play a more prominent role in type 2 diabetes. Lastly results suggest that different nerves are prone differentially to inflammatory-related nerve damage emphasizing the relevance of sum scores.

### Zusammenfassung

Subklinische Inflammation steht in Zusammenhang mit der Entwicklung der diabetischen distalen sensomotorischen Polyneuropathie (DSPN). In bisherigen Studien variierten DSPN-Definitionen und fokussierten auf unterschiedliche DSPN-Aspekte (Symptome, Zeichen oder Nervenfunktionsmessungen (NFM)). NFM oder empfohlene Kombinationsmaße als Indikatoren für eine DSPN werden selten genutzt. Letztere kombinieren Symptome, Zeichen und NFM oder beziehen sich auf Summenwerte von NFM verschiedener Nerven. Diese Arbeit untersucht den Zusammenhang verschiedener Aspekte der subklinischen Inflammation mit DSPN, erfasst als sensorische und motorische Nervenleitgeschwindigkeit (NLG), Summenwerte jeder Modalität und als Kombinationsmaß aus Symptomen, Zeichen und NFM.

513 neu diagnostizierte Typ 2 (n=352) und Typ 1 (n=161) Diabetespatienten der Baseline Population der Deutschen Diabetes-Studie gingen in die Querschnittsanalyse ein. Biomarker der subklinischen Inflammation aus Serumproben umfassten: Akut-phase Protein (hsCRP), proinflammatorische Zytokine (IL-6, IL-18), antiinflammatorische high-molecular-weight Adipokine (total, [HMW] Adiponektin) und lösliche Adhäsionsmoleküle (s-ICAM-1, sE-Selektin). Motorische NLG (Nervus medianus, ulnaris, peroneus) und sensorische NLG (Nervus medianus, ulnaris, suralis) wurden gemessen und Summenwerte für jede Modalität berechnet. Zusammenhänge der subklinischen Inflammation mit NLG sowie DSPN-Präsenz (kombiniert aus Symptomen, Zeichen, NFM) wurden mit multiplen linearen und logistischen Regressionsmodellen berechnet.

Höheres IL-6 im Serum war mit DSPN-Präsenz und verminderter motorischer und sensorischer NLG bei Personen mit Typ-2-Diabetes, nicht jedoch Typ-1-Diabetes assoziiert. Höheres Gesamt- und HMW-Adiponektin im Serum sowie ihr Verhältniswert waren mit DSPN-Präsenz und verminderter motorischer und sensorischer NLG in Typ 2 Diabetes assoziiert. Bei Personen mit Typ-1-Diabetes war höheres Serum-Adiponektin mit höherer motorischer NLG verbunden. Inkonsistente Ergebnisse ergaben sich für hsCRP, IL-18 und Adhäsionsmoleküle von denen ausschließlich IL-18 und sICAM-1 positiv mit sensorischer NLG in Typ-2-Diabetespatienten assoziiert waren.

Diese Studie deutet auf eine Relevanz von IL-6 in der Verlangsamung von NLG und DSPN in Typ-2-Diabetes hin. Inverse Zusammenhänge von Adiponektin mit DSPN und NLG in Typ-1- versus Typ-2-Diabetes legen nahe, dass sich die Pathogenese dieser beiden Erkrankungen unterscheidet, wobei subklinische Inflammation eine prominentere Rolle bei Typ-2-Diabetes zu spielen scheint. Außerdem scheinen verschiedene Nerven unterschiedlich anfällig für inflammations-assoziierte Schäden zu sein, was die Relevanz von Summenwerten betont.

# Abbreviations

BMI	body mass index
CRP	C-reactive protein
CV	coefficient of variation
d	distance
DSPN	distal sensorimotor polyneuropathy
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
GDS	German Diabetes Study
HbA1c	glycated haemoglobin
HMW	high-molecular-weight adiponectin
HMW/total adiponectin	HMW-to-total-adiponectin-ratio
hsCRP	high-sensitivity C-reactive protein
IL-6	interleukin-6
IL-18	interleukin-18
m	meter
MI	myocardial infarction
mm	millimeter
MNAP	motor nerve amplitude
MNCV	motor nerve conduction velocity
MNSI	Michigan Neuropathy Screening Instrument
ms	millisecond
μV	microvolt
mV	millivolt
NCS	nerve conduction studies
NCV	nerve conduction velocity
NDS	Neuropathy Disability Score
NFM	Nervenfunktionsmessung
NLG	Nervenleitgeschwindigkeit
NSAID	non-steroidal-anti-inflammatory drugs
NSS	Neuropathy Symptom Score
S	second
SD	standard deviation
sICAM-1	soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1
SNAP	sensory nerve amplitude
SNCV	sensory nerve conduction velocity
t	time = latency
V	velocity

# Contents

1	Introduction		
	1.1	Diabetes mellitus: definition and prevalence	2
	1.2	Diabetic distal sensorimotor polyneuropathy (DSPN)	3
1.2.1 1.2.2 1.2.3		1 Definition and classification of DSPN	3
		2 Symptoms and signs of DSPN	4
		3 Risk factors and pathophysiology of DSPN	5
	1.2.	4 Prevalence of DSPN and the diabetic foot syndrome	6
	1.3 (NCS)	Diagnostic criteria of DSPN: a central role of nerve conduction studies	8
	1.3.		
	1.3.	2 NCV as an outcome measure of DSPN	. 10
	1.4 assoc	Subclinical Inflammation in type 1 and type 2 diabetes and its iation with DSPN	. 11
	1.5	Study aims and hypothesis	. 19
2 Study population, material and methods			.20
2.1 Study population		Study population	. 20
	2.2	Sociodemographic, clinical and behavioural data collection	. 21
2.3 Ant		Anthropometric measurements	. 22
	2.4	Neuropathy assessment and definition of stages of DSPN	. 22
	2.4.	1 Clinical assessment of DSPN	. 22
	2.4.	2 Electrophysiological measurements	. 23
	2.4.	3 Definition of neuropathy stages	. 24
	2.5	Laboratory measurements	. 24
	2.6	Statistical analysis	. 26
3 Results			.28
3.1 Description of the study population		Description of the study population	. 28

	3.1.	1 Characteristics of the study population	28
	3.1.	2 Prevalence of DSPN	29
	3.1.	3 Distribution of biomarkers of subclinical inflammation	30
	3.2	Association between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and DSPN.	31
	3.2. in pa	1 Association between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and MNCV atients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes	32
	3.2. in pa	2 Association between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and SNCV atients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes	38
	3.2. pres	Association between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and sence of DSPN in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes	44
4	Disc	ussion	47
	4.1	Study population	47
	4.1.	1 Characteristics of the study population	47
	4.1.	2 Prevalence of DSPN	48
	4.1.	3 Biomarkers of subclinical inflammation	48
	4.2	Subclinical inflammation and DSPN in type 1 and type 2 diabetes	49
	4.3	Strength and limitations	54
	4.4	Conclusion and outlook	56
5	Refe	erences	57
6	Appendix70		
7	Ackı	nowledgement	78

## Tables

- Table 1:
   Laboratory measurement of metabolic parameters and biomarkers of subclinical inflammation
- Table 2:Demographic, anthropometric and metabolic characteristics of the study<br/>population stratified by type of diabetes
- Table 3: Prevalence of DSPN, MNCV and SNCV stratified by type of diabetes
- Table 4:Distribution of biomarkers of subclinical inflammation stratified by type of<br/>diabetes
- Table 5:Association between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and MNCV<br/>of single nerves in patients with type 2 diabetes
- Table 6:Association between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and MNCV<br/>of single nerves in patients with type 1 diabetes
- Table 7:Association between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and MNCV<br/>sum score in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes
- Table 8:Association between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and SNCV<br/>of single nerves in patients with type 2 diabetes
- Table 9:Association between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and SNCV<br/>of single nerves in patients with type 1 diabetes
- Table 10:Association between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and SNCV<br/>sum score in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes
- Table 11:Association between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and<br/>presence of DSPN in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes
- Table A-1: Neuropathy Symptom Score (NSS)
- Table A-2: Neurpathy Disability Score (NDS)
- Table A-3:Biospecimen type and handling and laboratory measurement of<br/>metabolic parameters and biomarkers of subclinical inflammation
- Table A-4:
   Pearson correlations between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and demographic, anthropometric and metabolic risk factors in patients with type 1 diabetes
- Table A-5:Pearson correlations between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation<br/>and demographic, anthropometric and metabolic risk factors in patients<br/>with type 2 diabetes
- Table A-6:Perason correlations between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation in<br/>patients with type 1 (grey) and type 2 (white) diabetes

# Figures

- Figure 1: Baseline data collection in the present study for detailed clinical, metabolic and immunological phenotyping
- Figure 2: Comparison of regression coefficients (β) and 95% confidence intervals of significant associations between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and MNCV of single nerves in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes
- Figure 3: Comparison of regression coefficients (β) and 95% confidence intervals of significant associations between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and MNCV sum score in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes
- Figure 4: Comparison of regression coefficients (β) and 95% confidence intervals of significant associations between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and SNCV of single nerves in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes
- Figure 5: Comparison of regression coefficients (β) and 95% confidence intervals of significant associations between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and SNCV sum score in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes
- Figure 6: Comparison of regression coefficients (β) and 95% confidence intervals of significant associations between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and presence of DSPN in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes

### 1 Introduction

The contribution of an inflammatory component to both type 1 and type 2 diabetes is well established. A mostly metabolic understanding of these diseases is gradually turning into a paradigm evolving around a state of subclinical inflammation (Kolb & Mandrup-Poulsen 2005). Subclinical inflammation refers to chronic low-grade inflammation which becomes evident at the systemic level as indicated by altered levels of circulating pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines (Kolb & Mandrup-Poulsen 2005).

Accumulating evidence suggests, that subclinical inflammation may also be implicated in the development of distal sensorimotor polyneuropathy (DSPN). DSPN is the most common form of peripheral neuropathy, an important microvascular complication of diabetes mellitus (Boulton et al. 2004a). The association between subclinical inflammation and DSPN remains poorly elucidated as the interpretation of previous studies is limited. First, previous study populations are rather inhomogeneous including either only type 1 or type 2 diabetic patients or a combination of both subgroups. However, evidence suggests a differential pathophysiolog of DSPN in these two types of diabetes (Callaghan et al. 2012). Second, DSPN definition varies between studies as different combinations of *subjective* symptoms and signs and *objective* electrophysiological measures are applied. These different measurements reflect different aspects of the pathophysiology of DSPN and it has been recommended to combine symptoms, signs and electrophysiological measures to diagnose DSPN (England et al. 2005; Tesfaye et al. 2010).

Nevertheless, electrophysiological measures, namely nerve conduction studies (NCS), comprise a central role in the process of diagnosing DSPN. They provide objective and reliable DSPN assessment which is required to confirm DSPN diagnosis (Boulton et al. 2004a; Tesfaye et al. 2010). In addition, abnormalities in nerve conduction appear to be an early indicator of DSPN which may be detected before symptoms and signs evolve (Boulton et al. 2004a). However, evidence suggests that the extent of nerve conduction velocity (NCV) slowing may differ between nerves and that composite nerve conduction test scores may enhance the detection of DSPN in an individual (Charles et al. 2010). Studies investigating the association of subclinical inflammation with NCV as a key parameter of NCS or with composite sum scores in particular are scarce.

The aim of the present study is to investigate the association between systemic levels of biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and DSPN. To overcome limitations of previous studies subgroups of type 1 and type 2 diabetes individuals will be

investigated seperately. Furthermore, DSPN will be assessed as recommended using a combination of symptoms, signs and electrophysiological measures as well as sensory and motor NCV and sum scores of each modality.

#### 1.1 Diabetes mellitus: definition and prevalence

Diabetes mellitus refers to a pathological metabolic condition characterized by hyperglycaemia resulting from deficient insulin secretion and/or resistance to insulin action. Diabetes mellitus has reached epidemic levels over the past decades. In 2015 the worldwide diabetic population was estimated to comprise 415 million people. An increase in incidence and prevalence is expected, reaching 642 million by the year 2040 (IDF Diabetes Atlas 2015). Although numerous subtypes of diabetes mellitus have been identified, the vast majority of cases are attributable to either type 1 or type 2 diabetes, which comprise 5-10% and 90-95% of all cases, respectively (Maahs et al. 2010).

Type 2 diabetes is the consequence of resistance to insulin action combined with inadequate compensatory insulin secretion response. This condition results in relative insulin deficiency during early stages of disease eventually progressing to absolute insulin deficiency during the course of disease (ADA 2014). Type 2 diabetes often remains undiagnosed for many years as hyperglycaemia develops gradually and resulting symptoms remain unnoticed by affected individuals (ADA 2014). Numerous factors associated with greater risk of type 2 diabetes have been identified which include increased age, hypertension and dyslipidaemia (e.g. increased triglycerides and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, decreased high-density lipoprotein cholesterol). In addition, obesity as well as a characteristic body fat accumulation particularly in the abdominal region increase the risk of developing type 2 diabetes (Fletcher et al. 2002; Gress et al. 2000; Qi et al. 2012; Weycker et al. 2009). Furthermore, lifestyle factors namely smoking and a lack of physical activity have been shown to contribute to an increased risk of developing type 2 diabetes (Chang 2012; Cho et al. 2009; Pan et al. 1997; Tuomilehto et al. 2001). Beyond this, a genetic predisposition for type 2 diabetes has been identified, which appears to be even stronger than in type 1 diabetes patients (ADA 2014).

The coexistence of a dysregulated state of glucose metabolism (impaired fasting glucose, impaired glucose tolerance, diabetes mellitus) with abnormally increased cholesterol, hypertension and (abdominal) obesity is referred to as "metabolic syndrome". The metabolic syndrome is often present in type 2 diabetes and

comprises a substantial risk factor for cardiovascular diseases and strokes (Air & Kissela 2007; Isomaa et al. 2001).

Given a relative rather than an absolute insulin deficiency at least during the early stages of disease, oral medication targeting differential mechanisms of insulin secretion usually precedes insulin substitution (ADA 2014).

Type 1 diabetes is characterized by an immune-mediated destruction of pancreatic beta cells resulting in absolute insulin deficiency. It usually shows an acute onset with symptoms such as polyuria, polydipsia, weight loss, fatigue and ketoacidosis all of which reflect insulin deficiency (Maahs et al. 2010). Type 1 diabetes shows a peak incidence at 10-14 years and therefore comprises the most common diabetes form in children and adolescence (Maahs et al. 2010). Although the incidence in adults is lower, one out of four type 1 diabetic patients is diagnosed as an adult (Haller et al. 2005; Maahs et al. 2010). Usually boys and girls are equally affected, however in regions with a higher incidence (e.g. Europe) an exaggeration of male patients is recorded (Maahs et al. 2010). Beyond age, sex and geographic location as potential risk factors for type 1 diabetes, genetic predisposition seems to play a role in the development of type 1 diabetes. Nevertheless, exact pathophysiological mechanisms remain unknown (Maahs et al. 2010).

One complication commonly found in both type 1 and type 2 diabetes consists in the development of peripheral neuropathy, which will be outlined in greater detail in the following section (Boulton et al. 2005a).

#### **1.2** Diabetic distal sensorimotor polyneuropathy (DSPN)

#### 1.2.1 Definition and classification of DSPN

Diabetic peripheral neuropathies present as a heterogeneous group of syndromes varying in topography, course and clinical signs and symptoms (Boulton et al. 2005a; Dyck et al. 1993). Heterogeneity of this diabetic complication challenges explicit but exhaustive definition and classification and no universally accepted taxonomy has emerged yet (Vinik et al. 2013). Nevertheless, a generally recognized definition refers to diabetic peripheral neuropathy as "the presence of symptoms and/or signs of peripheral nerve dysfunction in people with diabetes after the exclusion of other causes" (Boulton et al. 1998). A simple classification further differentiates between peripheral neuropathies which affect the autonomic versus the somatic nervous system. However, "peripheral neuropathy" usually refers to the latter category of which the most common and clinically relevant form is comprised by chronic sensorimotor

polyneuropathy, which accounts for 75% of diabetic neuropathies (Pop-Busui et al. 2017; Shaw et al. 1998). Therefore, the present work will focus on this particular form of neuropathy.

Chronic sensorimotor polyneuropathy starts in the most distal nerves of the lower and upper limbs and is therefore also referred to as "distal sensorimotor polyneuropathy" (DSPN). Although DSPN may be present in the lower as well as the upper limbs it predominantly affects the lower limbs (Boulton et al. 2005a). DSPN occurs symmetrically in both limbs and shows chronic progression, expanding from the feet to distal parts of the lower limbs (Boulton et al. 2005a). If no treatment is introduced, a subclinical state of peripheral sensory and motor nerve dysfunction eventually results in the development of actual symptoms and signs of DSPN (Boulton et al. 1998; Boulton et al. 2004a; Tesfaye et al. 2010).

#### 1.2.2 Symptoms and signs of DSPN

Symptoms subjectively reported by patients are distinguished from signs which are identified during a clinical examination (Boulton et al. 2004a). Symptoms and signs are considered to be either "negative" (representing decreased responsiveness to stimuli and absence of sensation) or "positive" (referring to sensory or motoric experiences arising spontaneously or as response to stimuli often resulting in intensified sensations or pain) (Apfel et al. 2001).

The most frequently experienced "positive" symptoms and signs arise from dysfunction in sensory axons and include burning or deep aching pain, electric or stabbing sensations and paraesthesia (abnormal sensation, which is not necessarily unpleasant e.g. tingling) (Boulton et al. 2004a). Less frequently reported symptoms are hyperaesthesia (overly increased sensitivity to pain), allodynia (perception of a non-painful stimulation as painful) and symptoms that arise from dysfunction of motor axons such as spasms, cramps or fasciculation (Boulton et al. 2004a; Dyck 1988; Vinik et al. 2013).

Typical "negative" symptoms and signs include numbness as well as sensory loss of thermal and pain perception (mediated by small-fibre impairment) and touch and vibration perception (mediated by large-fibre impairment). Moreover, the ankle reflex might be reduced or absent and proprioception (the sense of the relative position of neighbouring parts of the body and strength of effort being employed in movement) may be impaired. This in turn causes sensory ataxia and postural instability, which increases the risk of falls and fractures (Boulton et al. 2004a; Pasnoor et al. 2013).

Symptoms and signs are highly subjective as they are based on the patient's reports or the examiner's evaluations during clinical examination. Consequently, diagnosing and estimating severity of DSPN can result in highly subjective descriptions of a patients condition (Tesfaye et al. 2010). To increase objectivity of assessment, numerous instruments have been developed that score subjectively reported symptoms and clinically assessed signs according to a strict protocol (Dyck et al. 1986). Examples of instruments suitable in clinical practice and research include the Neuropathy Symptom Score (NSS), the Neuropathy Disability Score (NDS) and the Michigan Neuropathy Screening Instrument (MNSI) (Asad et al. 2010; Dyck et al. 1993). As the NSS and NDS have been applied in the present study these instruments are presented in Table A-1 and Table A-2 (Appendix) and are described in more detail in section 2.4.1.

#### 1.2.3 Risk factors and pathophysiology of DSPN

Numerous factors have been identified that put diabetic patients at risk to develop DSPN. In type 1 as well as in type 2 diabetes, risk factors most consistently associated with DSPN include increased age, duration of disease and elevated levels of HbA1c indicating poor glycaemic control (Forrest et al. 1997; Harris et al. 1993; Shaw et al. 1998; Tesfaye et al. 1996; Walters et al. 1992). HbA1c is the proportion of glycated haemoglobin of total haemoglobin and reflects glucose levels over the past three months (Sacks 2012). Furthermore, height appears to comprise a risk factor for DSPN, as DSPN is length-dependent, starting in the lower limbs expanding upward during the course of disease (Forrest et al. 1997; Shaw et al. 1998; Tapp et al. 2003). In addition, lifestyle factors such as smoking and physical inactivity have been shown to impact the development of DSPN (Balducci et al. 2006; Forrest et al. 1997; Sands et al. 1997).

The pathophysiological mechanisms implicated in the development of DSPN remain largely uncertain. Nevertheless, research suggests a multifactorial pathogenesis of DSPN in diabetes mellitus. It is suspected that in this state of metabolic dysregulation, oxidative and inflammatory stress is implicated in the development of peripheral nerve damage which again translates into the typical symptoms and signs of DSPN outlined above (Pop-Busui et al. 2017).

In the context of the present understanding of the pathogenesis of DSPN, chronic hyperglycaemia as a result of poor glycaemic control plays a key role. Chronic hyperglycaemia contributes to mitochondrial overproduction of reactive oxygen species and hence oxidative stress. Oxidative stress refers to a situation of imbalance between the production of reactive oxygen species and antioxidant defence (Feldman 2003).

This imbalance appears to be implicated in alterations of mainly five metabolic pathways: activation of the polyol pathway, formation of advanced glycation end products, increased expression of the receptors for advanced glycation end products, increased activation of protein kinase C isoforms and activation of hexosamine pathway (Giacco & Brownlee 2010; Luis-Rodríguez et al. 2012; Sandireddy et al. 2014). A common end point of these pathways is an imbalance of vasoactive agents, which impair microvascular perfusion, causing ischaemia in vasa nervorum that lead to endoneurial hypoxia in peripheral nerves. This condition, also referred to as endothelial dysfunction, results in peripheral nerve damage and subsequent dysfunction of peripheral nerves (Malik et al. 1993; Pasnoor et al. 2013; Sandireddy et al. 2014; Tesfaye et al. 1994).

However, it has been shown that intensive glycaemic control is not capable to prevent neuropathy entirely and beneficial effects were larger in type 1 than in type 2 diabetes (Callaghan et al. 2012). This suggests differential mechanisms in the pathogenesis of DSPN in type 1 and type 2 diabetes and emphasizes that especially in type 2 diabetes factors other than hyperglycaemia are of relevance in the development of DSPN (Callaghan et al. 2012). Indeed, research suggests that hypertension, dyslipidaemia (elevated total cholesterol and triglycerides), obesity and a history of cardiovascular disease contribute to an increased risk of DSPN (Callaghan et al. 2012; Sands et al. 1997). The latter variables have been mainly investigated in samples of type 2 diabetic patients, but a few studies indicate that they might be of relevance in type 1 diabetic patients as well (Forrest et al. 1997; Tesfaye et al. 1996).

Above and beyond these well established risk factors for DSPN, increasing evidence points towards a role of inflammatory processes in the development of DSPN in both type 1 and type 2 diabetes (Doupis et al. 2009; Herder et al. 2009; Hussain et al. 2013; Jude et al. 1998). Associations between subclinical inflammation and DSPN will be outlined in greater detail in section 1.4.

#### **1.2.4** Prevalence of DSPN and the diabetic foot syndrome

The prevalence of DSPN reported in diabetic patients throughout the past decades shows great variability ranging from 3.6% up to 50% (Boulton et al. 2005a; Dyck 1988; Young et al. 1993). This variability is in part a consequence of heterogeneity of study populations investigated varying regarding type of diabetes, age or duration of disease all of which have been shown to impact DSPN development. Beyond that, some studies described the prevalence of DSPN in population-based samples while others investigated patients from hospitals or diabetes clinics (Ziegler et al. 2008).

Furthermore, definition criteria and diagnostic tests of DSPN applied differ between studies, focussing on different aspects of DSPN (Boulton et al. 2005a).

For example, in population-based samples of type 2 diabetic patients of different age, neuropathic symptoms and abnormalities in electrophysiological measures were identified in 8.5% of *recently diagnosed* patients and in 41.5% after 10 years of disease onset (Partanen et al. 1995). In a different study, abnormalities in vibration perception threshold indicated the presence of DSPN in 3.6% of *newly* diagnosed type 2 diabetic patients and in 12.7% of patients with known type 2 diabetes (Shaw et al. 1998). A prevalence of 46.3% was identified in a population-based study which applied symptoms and signs to diagnose DSPN after a mean duration of disease of 9 years (Hanley et al. 2005). Estimates of DSPN in type 2 diabetic individuals in the German population are derived from the MONICA/KORA survey, revealing that 28% of patients showed symptoms of DSPN (Ziegler et al. 2008).

In different samples of type 2 diabetic in-patients recruited from diabetic clinics, symptoms and signs were used to assess DSPN. A prevalence of 32.1% was reported in individuals aged between 19 to 90 years and an average disease duration of 6 years and of up to 50% when taking into account only those aged above 60 years (Young et al. 1993). Similarly, a prevalence of 50.8% was identified in patients with an average age of 64 years and a longer disease duration (Van Acker et al. 2009).

In clinical populations of type 1 diabetic patients different symptoms and signs were used to assess DSPN. Its prevalence ranged from 12.9% to 28.5% after more than 10 years of disease duration in populations displaying a wide age range (Cabezas-Cerrato 1998; Tesfaye et al. 2005; Van Acker et al. 2009; Young et al. 1993). In one clinical trail, signs and NCS were used to identify DSPN in individuals who had received their diagnoses 1 to 15 years ago. In this sample the prevalence increased from 7% to 35% during 13 years after study closeout (Albers et al. 2010).

Although data regarding the prevalence of DSPN vary to a great extent, the careful conclusion might be drawn that at least one manifestation of DSPN is present in at least 20% of diabetic individuals and may reach up to 50% during the course of disease (Boulton et al. 2005a).

In any case, DSPN has to be considered as a common complication in diabetes mellitus. As such it comprises a substantial global health burden as it is associated with considerable adverse health outcomes (Boulton et al. 2005b). The most frequent and severe complication of DSPN is the development of the diabetic foot syndrome (Boulton 2004b; Rathur & Boulton 2007). Loss of protective sensation in DSPN permits minor injury of feet to remain unnoticed. In combination with ischaemia due to atherosclerosis, injuries are less likely to heal. Eventually the dermis is penetrated

which by definition comprises an ulceration, the key feature of the diabetic foot syndrome (Boulton 2004b). The lifetime risk of developing foot ulceration in diabetes patients is 15% (Boulton 2004b). Food ulceration in turn is a precursor in 85% of nontraumatic lower extremity amputations, which are associated with increased morbidity and mortality (Singh et al. 2005). Thus, the estimated mortality rate at one year following amputation is 13% to 40%, and further increases to 39% to 80% at 5 years. These numbers emphasize the severity of complications associated with DSPN as mortality rates following amputation even surpass those of certain kinds of malignant tumours (Singh et al. 2005).

# 1.3 Diagnostic criteria of DSPN: a central role of nerve conduction studies (NCS)

Although extensive research has been conducted to develop algorithms and diagnostic tools to assess DSPN, no generally applied gold standard has emerged to diagnose DSPN. In accordance with the definition of diabetic peripheral neuropathy stated above, the diagnosis of DSPN first requires the exclusion of causes unrelated to diabetes. These may include chronic inflammatory polyneuropathy, hypothyroidism, uraemia or vitamin B12 deficiency (Boulton et al. 2005a). Furthermore, it is generally agreed on that at least two abnormalities from the following categories have to become evident to diagnose DSPN: neuropathic symptoms, signs upon clinical neurological examination, electrophysiological testing (NCS), quantitative sensory testing and autonomic function tests (Boulton et al. 2005a; Dyck 1988). However, the most accurate diagnosis of DSPN is accomplished in combining subjective symptoms and signs and objective electrophysiological testing (England et al. 2005). These minimal criteria define the following stages of DSPN: possible (presence of symptoms or signs), probable (presence of symptoms and signs), confirmed (presence of abnormal nerve conduction and a symptom or a sign or both) or subclinical DSPN (abnormal nerve conduction without the presence of signs) (Tesfaye et al. 2010).

The aforementioned staging emphasizes the central role of NCS in the process of diagnosing DSPN. First, a confirmed diagnosis of DSPN *requires* abnormalities in NCS as they provide an objective and reliable tool to diagnose DSPN being independent of subjective reports (Boulton et al. 2005a). Second, impaired nerve conduction comprises an early indicator of DSPN, allowing NCS to detect abnormalities in nerve functioning even if symptoms or signs have not yet evolved (Boulton et al. 2004a). Hence, it allows to identify subclinical DSPN which has been estimated to affect 50% of diabetes patients (Boulton et al. 2004a). Given its central role in the process of diagnosing DSPN in the present study, the following paragraph will first describe NCS in greater detail. Following this, NCV as a measure of DSPN will be emphasized as the present study focuses on this measure in particular.

# 1.3.1 Performance and parameters of NCS: Latency, nerve conduction velocity (NCV) and amplitude

NCS are electroneurographical measurements involving electrical stimulation of a peripheral nerve at one site and measurement of the evoked response at a different site along the nerve. Specific anatomical landmarks are used for stimulation and recording site, which are described in more detail in section 2.4.2. In *motor* NCS, the peripheral nerve is stimulated in at least two sites and the response is recorded as compound muscle action potential over a muscle supplied by the stimulated nerve. In *sensory* NCS, the peripheral nerve is stimulated in only one site and the evoked response is recorded from purely sensory portions of the stimulated nerve (Conrad & Bischoff 1998; Poeck & Hacke 2001; Stöhr & Pfister 1993). NCS in sensory and motor nerves are mainly characterized by the three parameters latency, NCV and amplitude (Conrad & Bischoff 1998).

#### Latency

Latency describes the time (measured in milliseconds [ms]) it takes for the electrical impulse to travel from the stimulation to the recording sites in sensory and motor nerves (Conrad & Bischoff 1998).

#### NCV

NCV quantifies the speed of conduction in nerves and reflects velocity of the fastest axons in a nerve. Sensory NCV is calculated by dividing the distance between stimulation and recording electrode (d in millimetre [mm]) by latency (t in ms), hence v = d/t (in m per s). Sensory NCV may be assessed orthodromically (proximal stimulation site and distal recording site) or antidromically (distal stimulation site and proximal recording site) (Conrad & Bischoff 1998). Motor NCV is calculated by dividing the difference between distal and proximal stimulation site ( $\Delta d$  in mm) by the difference in latency between distal and proximal stimulation site to recording site ( $\Delta t$  in ms), hence v =  $\Delta d/\Delta t$  (in m per s). Differences are used to minimize the confounding impact of neuromuscular propagation (Conrad & Bischoff 1998; Poeck & Hacke 2001; Stöhr & Pfister 1993). A decrease in NCV can be recorded as a consequence of peripheral nerve dysfunction. It may result from structural damage (e.g. demyelination) or functional alteration (e.g. suppression of sodium ion channels within the nodal region)

in peripheral nerves (Boulton et al. 2005b; Arezzo & Zotova 2002). In contrast, an increase of NCV occurs with increasing temperature (Oh 1993; Todnem et al. 1989). *Amplitude* 

Amplitude describes the magnitude of the response in sensory and motor nerves (in  $\mu$ V and mV, respectively), reflecting the number of responding fibres and the synchronicity of their activity at maximal stimulation (Conrad & Bischoff 1998). A decrease in amplitude results from a reduced myelinated fibre density which in turn has been shown to result from axonal degeneration (Boulton et al. 2005b; Russell et al. 1996). Changes in both NCV and amplitude have been associated with DSPN (Dyck et al. 1985). The present study will focus on NCV only.

#### 1.3.2 NCV as an outcome measure of DSPN

An abnormality of nerve conduction tests, which is frequently subclinical, appears to be the first objective quantitative indication of diabetic polyneuropathy. Thus, for epidemiologic surveys or controlled clinical trials the use of nerve conduction testing has been suggested as an early and reliable indicator of the occurrence of this condition (Tesfaye 2010). However, evidence suggests that the extent of NCV slowing may differ between nerves (Charles et al. 2010; Partanen et al. 1995). For example, it has been shown that diabetes duration, as a risk factor for DSPN, only affected NCV of the lower limbs, but not the upper limps (Charles et al. 2010). In addition, sensory deficits in the sural nerve appear to represent the earliest electrophysiological changes in DSPN (Arezzo 1997; Partanen et al. 1995). It is feasible to combine NCV of individual nerves to form composite NCV test scores to improve the detection of DSPN in an individual patient. Indeed, this approach has been recommended repeatedly and some studies have shown, that composite nerve conduction test scores provide a better indicator of nerve injury and subsequent functional deficits than single nerve conduction tests (Weisman et al. 2013). Beyond this, composite nerve conduction test scores also appear to be superior to symptoms or clinical signs in detecting DSPN (Dyck et al. 2003; Weisman et al. 2013). In addition, composite nerve conduction test scores best predicted 4-year incidence of DSPN (Weisman et al. 2013). Based on these results it can be concluded that composite nerve conduction test scores may represent a useful indicator of nerve injury which may be applied to stratify risk in individuals with regard to DSPN development in clinical and research protocols (Weisman et al. 2013). Thereby, a lower composite nerve conduction test score indicates more severely impaired peripheral nerve function (Weisman et al. 2013).

# 1.4 Subclinical Inflammation in type 1 and type 2 diabetes and its association with DSPN

After decades of research the contribution of an inflammatory component to type 1 and type 2 diabetes is well established and evolves around a state of subclinical inflammation (Devaraj et al. 2010; Goldberg 2009; King 2008; Kolb & Mandrup-Poulsen 2005). Subclinical inflammation refers to chronic low-grade inflammation which becomes evident at the systemic level as indicated by altered levels of circulating proand anti-inflammatory cytokines (Kolb & Mandrup-Poulsen 2005). In type 1 and type 2 diabetes subclinical inflammation appears to be characterized by alterations of specific immune mediators rather than a uniform upregulation of all inflammatory cytokines (Kolb & Mandrup-Poulsen 2005).

The cause and origins of altered levels of immune mediators in diabetes are diverse. In type 1 diabetes production of proinflammatory cytokines seems to be enhanced by activation of autoimmunity (Goldberg 2009; King 2008). In type 2 diabetes a conjunction of persistent alterations of several mechanisms is assumed, which result in an increased systemic concentration of proinflammatory cytokines. These mechanisms include intracellular changes such as the activation of kinases (Jun N-terminal kinase and IkB kinase- $\beta$ ) and transcription factors (nuclear factor kB), histological changes reflected by the infiltration of immune cells and altered secretion patterns of various tissues, including islets, adipose tissue, liver and muscle cells (Goldberg 2009; Herder et al. 2013b; Navarro & Mora 2006). In type 2 diabetes, visceral adipose tissue in particular, has been shown to be an important determinant of systemic inflammation (Devaraj et al. 2010; Greenfield et al. 2004; Navarro & Mora 2005). It contains activated macrophages that together with adipocytes produce inflammatory adipokines, hence cytokines secreted from adipose tissue (Goldberg 2009; Kang et al. 2005; Lin et al. 2001). However, mechanisms by which chronic inflammation provokes diabetes mellitus are not clear. Beyond this, it is important to point out that subclinical inflammation may only represent one pathophysiological mechanism among others contributing to manifest disease (Herder et al. 2013b; Thorand et al. 2003).

Nevertheless, alterations of immune mediators become evident years before the diagnosis of type 1 or type 2 diabetes and have been further shown to predict the development of these diseases (Devaraj et al. 2010). In addition, anti-inflammatory therapy results in beneficial metabolic effects (Donath & Shoelson 2011). These findings support the assumption that subclinical inflammation contributes to the development of diabetes mellitus and may not be a mere consequence of

hyperglycaemia-triggered cytokine dysregulation in fully established diabetes (Crook 2004; Pickup & Crook 1998).

Despite extensive research conducted regarding the presence of subclinical inflammation in diabetes far less is known regarding its association with diabetic complications. Evidence suggests an implication of subclinical inflammation in macrovascular complications such as cardiovascular disease as well as endothelial dysfunction which is implicated in microvascular complications. Nevertheless, it remains uncertain to what extent subclinical inflammation contributes to DSPN as one out of several microvascular complications. A limited number of previous studies in diabetes patients and population-based samples demonstrated that biomarkers of subclinical inflammation are indeed linked to different aspects of DSPN and NCV. However, underlying pathophysiological mechanisms remain unknown. (Doupis et al. 2009; Herder et al. 2013; Herder et al. 2017; Hussain et al. 2013).

A multitude of immune mediators have been investigated in the context of diabetes mellitus. In the present study, the definition of subclinical inflammation comprises the acute-phase protein C-reactive protein (CRP), the proinflammatory cytokines interleukin 6 (IL-6) and interleukin 18 (IL-18), the anti-inflammatory adipokine adiponectin and biomarkers of endothelial dysfunction, namely soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (sICAM-1) and sE-selectin. Previous research strongly suggests that these immune mediators are implicated in the development of diabetes mellitus while only a limited number of studies investigated their implication in DSPN (Devaraj et al. 2010; Doupis et al. 2009; Herder et al. 2017; Nicoletti et al. 2001; Thorand et al. 2005). The following paragraph will outline the implication of these inflammatory mediators in type 1 and type 2 diabetes and their association with DSPN.

#### Acute-phase protein CRP and proinflammatory cytokines IL-6 and IL-18

IL-6 and CRP were most extensively examined in the context of diabetes and diabetic complications (Devaraj et al. 2010; Pickup & Crook 1998). IL-6 is a proinflammatory cytokine which is produced in different tissues in response to various stimuli. In addition to activated leucocytes and monocytes, endothelial cells, mesenchymal cells, fibroblasts and adipocytes have been shown to be involved in IL-6 production. (Akira et al. 1993; Devaraj et al. 2010; Esposito et al. 2002; Pradhan et al. 2001). IL-6 is a pleiotropic cytokine with various effects on haematopoesis, fibrogenesis, endothelial cell activation, inflammation and stimulation of the acute-phase response (Barnes et al. 2011; Tanaka et al. 2014). CRP is one important mediator of the acute-phase response. It is derived from hepatocytes in which biosynthesis is IL6-dependent and contributes to host defense against acute infection (Pradhan et al. 2001; Tanaka et al.

2014). The proinflammatory cytokine IL-18 is mainly produced by antigen-presenting cells and is a pleiotropic factor involved in inflammation, innate and acquired immune response, artheriosclerotic plaque destabilization as well as apoptosis of endothelial cells and expression of adhesion molecules (Aso et al. 2003; Biet et al. 2002; Mariño & Cardier 2003; Stuyt et al. 2003). Although these immune mediators display many beneficial effects in the immune response, defective and chronic upregulation of these agents has been shown to be implicated in disease.

Systemic levels of IL-6, IL-18 and CRP are found to be elevated in type 2 and type 1 diabetes and further precede and predict the diagnosis of these diseases (Devaraj et al. 2010; Harms et al. 2015; Pickup & Crook 1998; Pradhan et al. 2001; Ryba-Stanislawowska et al. 2014; Thorand et al. 2005). In line with this, elevated levels of these proinflammatory agents correlate with insulin resistance (CRP, IL-6) were shown to induce hyperglycaemia and subsequent hyperinsulinaemia (IL-6) and evoke beta-cell dysfunction and destruction eventually progressing to diabetes (IL-18) (Kolb & Mandrup-Poulsen 2005; Navarro & Mora 2006; Nicoletti et al. 2001; Pradhan et al. 2001).

Furthermore, numerous studies have also demonstrated that IL-6, IL-18 and CRP are related to an increased risk of cardiovascular disease and endothelial dysfunction (Barnes et al. 2011; Blankenberg et al. 2004; Danesh et al. 2004; Danesh et al. 2004; Danesh et al. 2011).

An increasing body of evidence also suggests that IL-6, IL-18 and CRP are associated with DSPN as a microvascular complication in diabetes mellitus. In type 2 diabetic patients IL-6 and CRP were associated with composite neuropathy scores (MNSI), some specific neuropathic deficits (impaired ankle reflex, vibration perception threshold, pinprick, foot appearance) and food ulceration as a long-term complication of DSPN (Herder et al. 2009; Herder et al. 2013a; Zubair et al. 2012). IL-6 was further related to decreased peroneal NCV, while no association was found between CRP and sural NCV in other samples of type 2 diabetes patients (Kang et al. 2005; Kökoglu et al. 2009; Magrinelli et al. 2015). An inverse association was demonstrated between IL-18 and pain perception as well as impaired ankle reflex in type 2 diabetes (Herder et al. 2009). Associations between neuropathy scores and signs of neuropathy were independent of duration of disease and glycaemic control suggesting that immune activation may not be a mere consequence of hyperglycaemia but contributing independently to neuropathic deficits (Herder et al. 2009; Herder et al. 2009; Herder et al. 2013a).

In a population-based sample the MNSI score was positively correlated with IL-6 and IL-18 and not associated at all with CRP (Herder et al. 2013a). Further, a prospective population-based study indicated that higher levels of IL-6 and hsCRP precede the onset of DSPN (defined using the MNSI) in an age- and sex-adjusted model, although results did not remain significant for hsCRP after adjusting for additional known risk factors for DSPN. Nevertheless, the prospective design of the study underscores a role of inflammation in the pathogenesis of DSPN. IL-18 was not associated with incident DSPN in this study (Herder et al. 2017). As in type 2 diabetes patients IL-6 was related to decreased peroneal NCV (Di Iorio et al. 2006).

Results from a pooled sample of type 1 and type 2 diabetic patients revealed a positive association between CRP and NSS as well as NDS scores (Doupis et al. 2009).

Studies investigating the relationship between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation (IL-6, IL-18, CRP) and different measures of DSPN in samples of type 1 diabetic individuals are not available. Furthermore, the association between IL-18 and NCV has not been investigated so far.

#### Adiponectin as an anti-inflammatory factor

Adiponectin belongs to the adipokines as it is a protein mostly secreted by adipocytes of white adipose tissue (Berg et al. 2001; Kershaw & Flier 2004). Nevertheless, adiponectin levels fall with increased adiposity and are decreased in obesity (Nigro et al. 2014). In contrast, adiponectin levels increase with age and women show approximately 30% to 50% higher levels than men (Hotta et al. 2000; Nigro et al. 2014). Although the exact underlying regulatory mechanisms remain unclear several effects of adiponectin are well described. Adiponectin has been found to act as insulinsensitizing, anti-inflammatory and antiatherogenic protein (Nigro et al. 2014; Singer et al. 2012). It is further inversely correlated with systemic levels of total cholesterol, lowdensity lipoprotein cholesterol and triglycerides while positively associated with highdensity lipoprotein cholesterol (Ljubic et al. 2015; Ouchi & Walsh 2007; Yamamoto et al. 2002). Different isoforms of adiponectin have been identified in serum and plasma (Hara et al. 2006; Kizer et al. 2012; Nigro et al. 2014). Some authors suggested that high-molecula-weight (HMW) adiponectin may be the biologically most active form, as it correlates most closely with insulin sensitivity and metabolic abnormalities (Hara et al. 2006; Nakashima et al. 2006). Furthermore, the HMW-to-total-adiponectin-ratio (HMW/total adiponectin) has been suggested to better reflect the biological activity of adiponectin (Hara et al. 2006; Nakashima et al. 2006). However, others were not able to confirm an advanced utility of HMW or the HMW-to-total-adiponectin-ratio compared to total adiponectin (Almeda-Valdes et al. 2010; Singer et al. 2012; Zhu et al. 2010)

Given its anti-inflammatory, vasoprotective and metabolic effects, it seems feasible to assume that adiponectin may be implicated in a wide array of diseases. In

deed, research strongly supports an implication of adiponectin in diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular disease and some research also points towards an implication of adiponectin in diabetic microvascular complications (Fantuzzi 2008; Lieb et al. 2012; Ljubic et al. 2015; Nigro et al. 2014). However, the role of adiponectin in these diseases is little understood as findings remain conflicting.

Lower adiponectin levels are observed in type 2 diabetes patients and even predict disease, while increased levels are consistently found in type 1 diabetes patients (Fantuzzi 2008; Hadjadj et al. 2005; Krakoff et al. 2003; Saraheimo et al. 2005). The inverse relationship between adiponectin and incidence of type 2 diabetes is thought to reflect a widely agreed paradigm according to which, obesity is associated with inflammation in adipose tissue and that proinflammatory factors suppress adiponectin production. Lower levels of adiponectin in turn promote inflammation in a self-sustaining manner as its own anti-inflammatory capacity is reduced and further contribute to increased insulin resistance (Fantuzzi 2008). Supporting this paradigm, first lower adiponectin levels in type 2 diabetes and non-diabetic individuals are associated with higher body mass index (BMI) and greater central obesity in particular and weight loss was shown to increase adiponectin levels (Engeli et al. 2003; Hotta et al. 2000; Mather et al. 2008). Second, IL-6 as a proinflammatory cytokine was shown to suppress adiponectin production (Fantuzzi 2008; Saraheimo et al. 2005). Third, animal studies have shown that application of exogenous adiponectin reversed insulin resistance and protected against diet-induced insulin resistance (Maeda et al. 2002; Yamauchi et al. 2001). However, in humans the inverse association between adiponectin and type 2 diabetes leveled off above approximately 20  $\mu$ g/ml and experimental data of adiponectin infusion are lacking (Herder et al. 2013b; Kizer et al. 2012). Thus, it remains uncertain whether changes in adiponectin are a determinant or consequence of insulin resistance (Herder et al. 2013b).

Similary, mechanisms underlying the upregulation of adiponectin and its physiological implication in type 1 diabetes are poorly understood (Fantuzzi 2008; Hadjadj et al. 2005; Saraheimo et al. 2005). In this inflammatory condition in the context of autoimmune disease, adiponectin levels are not related to BMI (Fantuzzi 2008; Saraheimo et al. 2005). However, as in type 2 diabetes, adiponectin levels are positively associated with insulin sensitivity, although insulin sensitivity has been shown to be lower at any given adiponectin level compared with healthy controls (Pereira et al. 2012). Taken together, there is some evidence pointing towards differential functions of adiponectin in obesity-associated versus classical inflammatory conditions (Kolb & Mandrup-Poulsen 2005).

Regarding the association between adiponectin and cardiovascular disease one might expect a protective role of adiponectin, as it exerts antiatherogenic effects and has beneficial effects on important risk factors for cardiovascular disease such as dyslipidaemia (Lubjic et al. 2015; Singer et al. 2012). However, only few studies demonstrated this inverse association between adiponectin levels and risk for cardiovascular disease in the general population and type 2 diabetes (Pischon et al. 2004; Schulze et al. 2005). Most studies that investigated this matter reported contrasting results. Thus, positive associations between adiponectin levels and cardiovascular disease and all-cause mortality were reported in individuals with prevalent cardiovascular disease (Dekker et al. 2008; Wu et al. 2014), chronic kidney disease (Menon et al. 2006), patients with chronic heart failure (Kistorp et al. 2006) as well as in the general population (Laughlin et al. 2007) and type 2 diabetic patients (Singer et al. 2012). Furthermore, no association was found between adiponectin and risk for cardiovascular disease in the general population (Satter et al. 2006), in patients with pre-existing cardiovascular disease (Satter et al. 2006) and type 2 diabetes patients (Krzyzanowski et al. 2009). In addition to that, type 1 diabetic individuals display increased risk of cardiovascular disease despite increased adiponectin levels (Fantuzzi 2008; Frystyk et al. 2005). Potential explanations for confliciting results have been proposed and include adiponectin resistance and reverse causality (Satter 2011; Singer et al. 2012). The latter implicates that elevated adiponectin may reflect underlying cardiovascular disease as adiponectin release is increased by atrial natriuretic peptide and brain natriuretic peptide (Sattar 2011; Singer et al. 2012).

Little research has been conducted regarding the association between adiponectin and diabetic microvascular complications. For example, higher adiponectin levels were found in type 2 diabetic individuals with retinopathy compared to those without retinopathy (Jung et al. 2014; Kato et al. 2008; Pradeepa et al. 2015). With regard to DSPN, adiponectin levels were found to be related to increased odds for the presence of neuropathy (defined using the MNSI) in type 2 diabetic individuals (Jung et al. 2014). However, adiponectin was also found to be related to a lower incidence of food ulceration while no association was found with NCV (Kökoglu et al. 2009; Matsuda et al. 2004; Zubair et al. 2012). In a population-based sample adiponectin was not found to be related to neuropathy (defined using the MNSI) (Herder et al. 2013a). However, in a prospective population-based sample lower systemic levels of adiponectin were associated with a higher risk of DSPN (MNSI) over 6.5 years (Herder et al. 2017).

#### Soluble adhesion molecules sICAM-1 and sE-selectin

Adhesion molecules expressed on endothelial cells interact with leukocytes and trigger transmigration of these cells into the subendothelial space. In healthy organisms this interaction targets inflammation to appropriate sites (Gearing & Newman 1993; Goldberg 2009). However, endothelial dysfunction indicates a general proinflammatory and procoagulative state in the vasculature and comprises a first step towards artherosclerosis (Gearing & Newman 1993). Adhesion molecules shedded from the surface of activated endothelium appear in the circulation as measurable levels of soluble adhesion molecules and indicate endothelial activation and comprise markers of endothelial dysfunction and vascular inflammation (Devaraj et al. 2006). The present study focuses on the following two adhesion molecules. The integrin sICAM-1 is produced by endothelial cells and other cells including epithelial cells, fibroblasts, leukocytes, and tumour cells while the selectin sE-selectin is exclusively produced by endothelial cells providing a more specific marker of endothelial dysfunction (Fasching et al. 1996; Gearing & Newman 1993).

A great body of research has shown that diabetes mellitus is associated with endothelial dysfunction evidenced by increased levels of sICAM-1 and sE-selectin in type 2 as well as type 1 diabetes (Blüher et al. 2002; Devaraj et al. 2006, Pham et al. 2012). Both sICAM-1 and sE-selectin are thought to be induced by proinflammatory cytokines and chronic as well as acute hyperglycaemia (Blüher et al. 2002; Ceriello et al. 1998; Esposito et al. 2002; Peschel & Niebauer 2003.). However, research regarding the association between adhesion molecules and DSPN is scarce. In pooled samples of type 1 and type 2 diabetic patients sICAM-1 and sE-selectin were found to be higher in neuropathic compared to non-neuropathic patients. Furthermore, they were associated with composite neuropathy scores (NSS and NDS) as well as decreased peroneal NCV after 5 years of follow-up (Doupis et al. 2009; Jude et al. 1998). In a population-based sample sICAM-1 was found to be positively related to the MNSI score ans impaired ankle reflex. Nevertheless, this association did not remain significant after adjusting for potentially confounding variables including risk factors for diabetes and the metabolic syndrome (Herder et al. 2013a). In a prospective population-based study sICAM-1 was associated with higher risk of DSPN (MNSI) over 6.5 years and with progression of DSPN (defined as change in DSPN) in an age- and sex-adjusted model (Herder et al. 2017). While the association between sICAM-1 and incidence of DSPN did not remain significant after adjusting for further anthropometric and metabolic variables, the association between sICAM-1 and progression of DSPN strengthened with further adjustment and indicates that vascular inflammation and endothelial activation promotes the progression of DSPN (Herder et al. 2017).

Taken together, proinflammatory cytokines (CRP, IL-6, IL-18) and adhesion molecules (sICAM-1, sE-selectin) are elevated in type 1 and type 2 diabetes. The antiinflammatory adipokine adiponectin is found to be decreased in type 2 diabetes while elevated in type 1 diabetes. These findings support the notion of an implication of subclinical inflammation in diabetes mellitus. Given this enhanced understanding of diabetes mellitus as an inflammation-related condition, it seems reasonable to investigate if subclinical inflammation may as well be involved in the development of diabetic microvascular complications such as DSPN. A growing body of evidence indeed suggests that subclinical inflammation is related to DSPN in diabetes mellitus (Devaraj et al. 2010; Goldberg 2009; King 2008; Kolb & Mandrup-Poulsen 2005). However, the exact nature of the association between different biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and DSPN remains poorly characterized as existing results are inconsistent and even diverging in some cases. Inconsistency of results may in part be a consequence of different DSPN measures being used in different studies, which usually assess only single aspects (e.g. only symptoms or only signs) of DSPN. In addition, study populations are rather inhomogeneous as some studies included both, type 1 and type 2 diabetic individuals (Doupis et al. 2009) while others focused on type 2 diabetic individuals only (Magrinelli et al. 2015) or on the general population comprising a substantial proportion of individuals with prediabetes or type 2 diabetes (Herder et al. 2013a).

Only limited research has been conducted regarding the association between different biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and NCV in particular. Nevertheless, NCV is of increasing relevance in the diagnosis of DSPN. It is an early indicator of this condition and provides a highly reliable measure that above and beyond the aforementioned facts is required to accomplish a confirmed diagnosis of DSPN (Boulton et al. 2005a). Moreover, NCV sum scores have been shown to detect nerve damage much better than nerve conduction of single nerves (Dyck et al. 2003; Weisman et al. 2013). However, evidence regarding the association between sum scores as a sensitive marker of DSPN and subclinical inflammation is lacking. Up to date only a single study in type 2 diabetic patients investigated this association and reported a positive association between the macrophage biomarker CD 163 (as indicator of inflammatory processes) and a neuropathy sum score combining several parameters of nerve function of different nerves (Kallestrup et al. 2015). Nevertheless, similar analyses have not yet been performed for other biomarkers of subclinical inflammation.

#### 1.5 Study aims and hypothesis

Given a lack of consistent data elucidating how subclinical inflammation is related to DSPN, the general aim of the present study is to systematically investigate the association between biomarkers reflecting different aspects of subclinical inflammation (acute-phase proteins, proinflammatory cytokines, adiponectin and soluble adhesion molecules) and DSPN. To overcome limitations of previous studies this analysis will carefully stratify by diabetes type. Furthermore, only patients with recently diagnosed type 1 or type 2 diabetes are included (duration since diagnosis  $\leq$  12 month). This approach was chosen to reduce the impact of potential confounding comorbidities, which usually develop throughout disease. Beyond this, DSPN will be operationalized through a recommended combination of symptoms, signs and electrophysiological measures (England et al. 2005; Weisman et al. 2013). As the latter play a central role in diagnosing DSPN, the present study will focus on NCV as a measure of DSPN.

Previous studies suggest that NCV may be affected differentially in different nerves. Hence, slowing of NCV appears to occur to a greater extent in the lower (peroneal and sural nerve) than in the upper limbs (median and ulnar nerve) (Weisman et al. 2013). In the present study NCV will be assessed in each of the aforementioned nerves to capture a wide array of possible effects of subclinical inflammation on NCV. In line with this, NCV measures will be taken of sensory (median, ulnar and sural nerve) and motor (median, ulnar and peroneal nerve) properties of these nerves. Furthermore, NCV sum scores combining NCV measures of different single nerves of the same modality will be used as they have been recommended to more accurately detect and estimate the severity of peripheral nerve damage in an individual (Dyck et al. 2003; Weisman et al. 2013).

Based on current research it is hypothesized that IL-6, CRP, IL-18, sICAM-1, sE-selectin and adiponectin are associated with DSPN in type 1 and type 2 diabetes. Different isoforms of adiponectin have been identified of which HMW adiponectin and the HMW-to-total-adiponectin-ratio have been suggested to be the biologically most active form in the context of insulin resistance. (Hara et al. 2006; Kizer et al.2012; Nigro et al. 2014). Therefore, total and HMW adiponectin as well as their ratio will be considered. DSPN will be assessed as motor and sensory NCV as well as sum scores of each modality and as a combined score of symptoms, signs and electrophysiological measures according to modified Toronto Consensus criteria (Dyck et al. 2011).

### 2 Study population, material and methods

#### 2.1 Study population

The German Diabetes Study (GDS) is a prospective observational study which investigates the natural history of recent-onset diabetes, the progression of the disease and the development of diabetes-associated complications (Szendroedi et al. 2016). The aim of the GDS is to identify prognostic factors that influence the course of disease and the development of disease-related complications. All procedures performed meet the standards of the Declaration of Helsinki and were approved by the ethics committee of Heinrich Heine University, Düsseldorf (current reference number 4508, previous reference number 2478). The GDS is registered at ClinicalTrail. gov (identifier number: NCT01055093). Informed written consent was obtained from all participants.

Participants were recruited through advertisement in local newspapers and on the institutional homepage and through flyers at local general practitioners. Potential participants were screened for eligibility during recruitment via a telephone interview, during which a trained research assistant determined whether all inclusion and exclusion criteria were met.

Inclusion criteria for entry into the study population of GDS comprised diagnosis of either type 1 or type 2 diabetes, duration since diagnosis of diabetes ≤1 year and participants had to be aged between 18-69 years. Exclusion criteria included acute infection, current pregnancy or immunosuppressive therapy, symptomatic peripheral arterial disease, history of malignancies, severe congestive heart failure, renal or liver disease or secondary diabetes due to other conditions than type 1 or type 2 diabetes mellitus. Participants were also not eligible when suffering from any severe psychiatric or addictive disease.

The GDS was started in 2005, follow-up data are being collected at 5-yearintervals for up to 20 years. The present cross-sectional analysis is based on baseline data obtained from participants who entered the study between its start in September 2005 and December 2011 (n=513).

Participants arrived at the clinical research centre after overnight fasting ( $\geq$ 8h). They were further asked to refrain from taking glucose-lowering medication 3 days prior to their visit and if insulin-treated, the last dose had to be applied the night before the visit.

Figure 1 gives an overview on baseline data collection to assess sociodemographic, clinical and behavioural data of relevance in the present study and for metabolic and immunological phenotyping.

#### Structured interview and questionnaires

- Sociodemographic status (age, sex)
- Medical history (type of diabetes, time since diagnosis, myocardial infarction, stroke, current medication)
- Current smoking
- Physical activity
- Neuropathy Symptom Score

#### Anthropometric measures

- Weight
- Height
- Waist circumference
- BMI

**Blood pressure** 



Figure 1: Baseline data collection in the present study for detailed clinical, metabolic and immunological phenotyping. Variables are arranged according to their role in the present study. Variables assessed as potential confounding variables appear in gray, outcome measures in blue, and exposures appear in red.

# 2.2 Sociodemographic, clinical and behavioural data collection

Information on age, diabetes type, diabetes duration, medical history (myocardial infarction [MI], stroke) and medication (non-steroidal-anti-inflammatory drugs [NSAID], antihypertensive and lipid-lowering medication) was obtained by self-report during the standardized interview. If necessary, a self-reported diabetes diagnosis was confirmed by records of fasting plasma glucose level of  $\geq$ 7.0 mmol/L or  $\geq$ 11.1 mmol/L at 120 min

during a standardized 75-g oral glucose tolerance test in accordance with diagnostic criteria introduced by the American Diabetes Association (ADA 2014). Type 1 diabetes was confirmed by presence of autoantibodies, classical symptoms, and/or ketoacidosis at onset of disease. Physical activity and smoking were assessed via questionnaires and dichotomous variables were created. A participant was classified as "physical active" if participating regularly in sports for at least one hour per week during leisure time in summer and winter. Current smoking was defined as smoking at least one cigarette (or cigar, pipe) per day. Blood pressure was measured following a 15-minute resting-period in a sitting position three times on the right arm using a validated automated device (OMROM 705IT, Mannheim, Germany). The mean of the second and third measurement were used for analysis.

#### 2.3 Anthropometric measurements

BMI was calculated as weight in kilograms divided by height in meters squared. Body weight and height were measured on a calibrated scale with statiometer with participants in light clothing and without shoes to the nearest of 0.5 kg and 0.1 cm, respectively (seca 674, Hamburg, Germany). Waist circumference was measured midway between the lower rib margin and the superior anterior iliac spine.

#### 2.4 Neuropathy assessment and definition of stages of DSPN

#### 2.4.1 Clinical assessment of DSPN

The NSS and the NDS were applied to assess neuropathy as proposed by Young (Young et al. 1993). Both instruments are presented in the appendix. Symptoms and signs were included in clinical neuropathy scores only if considered to be most likely due to DSPN but not other neurological diseases by an experienced investigator. Vitamin B6 or B12 deficiency as potential cause of polyneuropathy cannot be ruled out with certainty, as their concentrations were not assessed. However, individuals with clinical symptoms or signs of manifest Vitamine B6 or B12 deficiency were excluded from the present analysis.

**NSS:** Subjective reported symptoms of DSPN, namely burning/ numbness/ paraesthesia (score 2) and weakness/ cramping/ pain (score 1) are assessed. Moreover, the location of these symptoms is assessed: feet (score 2), lower leg (score 1), other location (score 0). Furthermore, exacerbation (during the night only/ during day and night time/ during the day only) and improvement of symptoms (walk/ stand/

sit or lay down) are scored anticlimactic from 2 to 0. One point is added, if a patient is awakened from sleep by symptoms. Scores range from 0 to 10, any score greater than one or one indicates abnormality (Dyck et al. 1993). In more detail, 3 to 4 points are categorized as mild symptoms, 5 to 6 points as moderate symptoms and 7 to 10 as severe symptoms (Young et al. 1993).

NDS: Signs of DSPN are assessed as a clinical composite score based on the following four tests performed by trained physicians during a neurological examination: First, the ankle reflex is elicited in a sitting position using an appropriate hammer and the response is graded as normal (score 0), decreased/elicited only after reinforcement (score 1), absent (score 2). Second, vibration perception is measured with a Rydel-Seiffert AB-125c-64 Hz tuning fork (Barthelmes, Tuttlingen, Germany) at the great toe, three times on each side. Scoring is based on the time period for which the participant reports to be able to sense the vibration from the tuning fork. Vibration perception is considered as being present (score 0) if vibration is sensed relatively long (5/8 to 8/8), as being diminished or absent (score 1) if vibration is sensed shorter than normal (0.5/8 to 4.5/8) or is not perceived at all (0/8). Values were age-adjusted (Martina et al. 1998). Third, pain perception is assessed via pin-prick test three times on the dorsal side of each foot and is scored as normal (3/3, score 0), reduced (2/3 or 1/3, score1) or absent (0/3, score 1). Fourth, temperature perception is measured using a TipTherm at the dorsal side of the foot (Gesellschaft für neurologische Diagnostik, Düsseldorf, Germany). TipTherm is a pen-like device with a metal cylinder on one end capable of causing a cold sensation at room temperature and a plastic cylinder on the other side, in contrast eliciting a warm sensation at room temperature. Each cylinder is applied to the skin for one second in a random order and the participant has to decide which of the two touches feels colder. Three trials are conducted on each side. Thermal perception was classified as normal (score 0) if two out of three trials were rated correctly and as abnormal (score 1) if at least two out of three trials were rated incorrectly. Both feet are tested and scored independently and scores of each foot are added to obtain the final score, which ranges from 0 to 10, with the maximum score indicating a complete loss of sensory modalities and absent reflexes.

#### 2.4.2 Electrophysiological measurements

Motor and sensory nerve conduction velocities (MNCV, SNCV) and amplitudes (MNAP, SNAP) were assessed with a Nicolet nerve stimulator S403 and a Nicolet VikingQuest electromyograph (Nicolet Biomedical, Madison, Wisconsin, USA) using Nicolet VikingQuest surface electrodes (Natus medical, San Carlos, California, USA). In all cases the measurements were carried out in the right arm and the right leg at a

skin temperature of 33-34°C. Limbs were warmed if necessary to maintain local skin temperature during the entire period of measurement. Specific anatomical landmarks were used for both stimulation and recording site as reported before (Ziegler et al. 1988): MNCV (in m/s) and MNAP (in mV) were measured in the median nerve (antecubital fossa-wrist; recording electrodes over the musculus abductor pollicis brevis), ulnar nerve (sulcus N. ulnaris-wrist; recording electrodes over the musculus abductor digiti minimi) and peroneal nerve (head of the fibula-ankle joint; recording electrodes over the musculus extensor digitorum brevis). SNCV (in m/s) and SNAP (in  $\mu$ V) were measured orthodromically in the median nerve (digit II-wrist) and ulnar nerve (digit V-wrist) and antidromically in the sural nerve (distal part of musculus gastrocnemiums-lateral malleolus).

#### 2.4.3 Definition of neuropathy stages

Neuropathy stages were defined according to modified Toronto Consensus criteria (Dyck et al. 2011). Stages of DSPN comprised subclinical DSPN (stage 1a: NDS≤2, NSS≤2, peroneal MNCV<2.5<sup>th</sup> percentile and sural SNCV<2.5<sup>th</sup> percentile and/or sural SNAP<2.5<sup>th</sup> percentile), confirmed asymptomatic DSPN (stage 1b: NDS≥3, NSS≤2, peroneal MNCV<2.5<sup>th</sup> percentile and sural SNCV<2.5<sup>th</sup> percentile and/or sural SNAP<2.5<sup>th</sup> percentile) and confirmed symptomatic DSPN (stage 2a: NSS≥3, peroneal MNCV<2.5<sup>th</sup> percentile) and confirmed symptomatic DSPN (stage 2a: NSS≥3, peroneal MNCV<2.5<sup>th</sup> percentile) and sural SNCV<2.5<sup>th</sup> percentile and/or sural SNAP<2.5<sup>th</sup> percentile). For this study the presence of DSPN was defined as present if criteria for the stages of subclinical, confirmed asymptomatic or confirmed symptomatic DSPN were met and a dichotomous variable was created (DSPN absent/ DSPN present).

#### 2.5 Laboratory measurements

Table 1 gives an overview on laboratory measurement (assays applied, inter- and intra-coefficients of variation [CV]) of metabolic parameters (HbA1c, total cholesterol, triglycerides), acute-phase proteins and proinflammatory cytokines (hsCRP, IL-6, IL-18), anti-inflammatory adipokines (total and HMW adiponectin) and biomarkers of endothelial dysfunction (sE-selectin, sICAM-1). Detailed information on biospecimen type and handling (storage duration and temperature, freeze-thaw cycles, assays applied) is given in Table A-3 (Appendix), as reported before (Weber et al. 2015).

Briefly, total cholesterol, triglycerides and biomarkers of inflammation were assayed from serum, and HbA1c from EDTA whole blood. All blood samples were drawn after overnight fasting.

IL-6, IL-18, total and HMW adiponectin and adhesion molecules were assessed using commercially available enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kits. As the ratio of HMW to total adiponectin has been suggested to be a particular sensitive marker of the biological activity of adiponectin this variable was calculated by dividing HMW adiponectin by total adiponectin (HMW-to-total-adiponectin-ratio). hsCRP was analysed using a Roche/Hitachi c311 analyzer. A high-sensitivity assay was used which is able to detect very low levels of CRP, which is therefore referred to as highsensitivity CRP (hsCRP).

Total cholesterol and triglycerides were analysed using an enzymatic assay on Hitchi 912 or Modular P system. Hb1Ac was determined via high-performance liquid chromatography on the Variant-II analyzer (Bio-rad, München, Germany). Hb1Ac values were adjusted according to the Diabetes Control and Complication Trial and appear as percent values from which subsequently mmol/mol values were calculated (Sacks 2012). Analyses were carried out in the central laboratory of the teaching Hospital of Heinrich-Heine University, Düsseldorf and at the Institute of Clinical Diabetology at the German Diabetes Center in Düsseldorf.
Variables	Assay	Intra-assay CV (%)	Inter-assay CV (%)
HbA1c (percent and mmol/mol)	Variant-II (Bio-rad, Munich, Germany)	<1	<1
Total cholesterol (mmol/l)	Enzymatic assay on Hitachi 912 or Modular P system (both Rocher Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany)	<1/1.9	2.2/3.5
Triglycerides (mmol/l)	Enzymatic assay on Hitachi 912 or Modular P system (Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany)	<1/1.1	2.2/4.2
<b>hsCRP</b> (mg/L)	Roche/Hitachi c 311 analyzer (Basel, Switzerland)	1.9	3.9
<b>IL-6</b> (pg/mL)	Quantikine HS ELISA (R&D Systems, Wiesbaden, Germany)	6.0	12.2
<b>IL-18</b> (pg/mL)	IL-18 ELISA (MBL, Nagoya, Japan)	6.5	12.1
Total adiponectin (ng/mL)	Adiponectin (Multimeric) ELISA (ALPCO Diagnostics, Salem, NH, USA)	2.34	7.88
HMW adiponectin (ng/mL)	Adiponectin (Multimeric) ELISA (ALPCO Diagnostics, Salem, NH, USA)	3.56	10.82
<b>sE-selectin</b> (ng/mL)	Quantikine HS ELISA (R&D Systems, Wiesbaden, Germany)	3.3	5.0
<b>sICAM-1</b> (ng/mL)	Quantikine HS ELISA (R&D Systems, Wiesbaden, Germany)	2.0	3.3

 Table 1: Laboratory measurement of metabolic parameters and biomarkers of subclinical inflammation

The table gives an overview on laboratory measurements used to assay metabolic parameters and biomarkers of subclinical inflammation. CV, coefficient of variation; HMW, high-molecular-weight adiponectin (adapted from Weber et al. 2015).

## 2.6 Statistical analysis

A cross-sectional analysis from the baseline visit of the GDS is presented. All analyses were stratified by diabetes type because there is evidence that risk factors of DSPN differ between type 1 and type 2 diabetes (Callaghan et al. 2012). Characteristics of the study populations (participants with type 1 or type 2 diabetes) are presented as

proportions (%) for categorical variables, as mean ± standard deviation (SD) for continuous variables with Gaussian distribution and as median (25<sup>th</sup> and 75<sup>th</sup> percentiles) for continuous variables with non-Gaussian distribution. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was applied to test for Gaussian distribution.

Differences between the subsamples of type 1 and type 2 diabetes participants in categorical variables with 2 classes were tested using Fisher's exact test. Differences in continuous variables with Gaussian distribution were tested using Student's t-test (unpaired, two-tailed). Differences in continuous variables without Gaussian distribution were tested with the Mann-Whitney U-test. Variables which did not show a Gaussian distribution (triglycerides, all biomarkers of subclinical inflammation) were log-transformed (log: natural logarithm) before entering statistical analysis. Pearson correlation coefficients were calculated to assess associations between log-transformed biomarkers of subclinical inflammation with each other and with sociodemographic, metabolic and anthropometric variables.

Multivariable logistic regression models increasing in complexity were applied to assess associations between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation as independent variables (separate models for each biomarker) and presence of DSPN, as dependent variable. Covariables were selected based on potential risk factors for DSPN, which have been described before (see section 1.2.3). Model 1 adjusted for age and sex. Model 2 additionally included time since diagnosis of diabetes, HbA1c, waist circumference, height, total cholesterol and hypertension (defined as blood pressure ≥140/90 mmHg or use of antihypertensive medication) as covariates. Model 3 additionally adjusted for current smoking (yes/no), physical activity (yes/no), use of lipid-lowering medication (yes/no) and NSAID (yes/no) as well as for history of myocardial infarction and/or stroke (yes/no). The latter variable was not included in the statistical analysis in the subsample of type 1 diabetic participants, because only a single participant displayed this risk factor.

Multivariable linear regression models were applied to assess the associations between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation as independent variables (separate models for each biomarker) and MNCV and SNCV as continuous dependent variables. Furthermore, MNCV and SNCV sum scores were calculated and entered multivariable linear regression models as dependent variables. To obtain sum scores, individual *z*-scores of median, ulnar and peroneal MNCV and of median, ulnar and sural SNCV were added to provide a MNCV sum score and a SNCV sum score, respectively. As outlined earlier, sum scores combine NCV of different nerves. In using *z*-scores equal weight is given to each nerve and sum scores result in a more sensitive assessment of nerve function in an individual with low sum scores reflecting a more severe

Results

impairment of peripheral nerve function. The same covariates as in the multivariable logistic regression models were included.

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 22 (IBM, Ehningen, Germany) and R version 3.2.4 (R Core Team, R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria). A p value of <0.05 was chosen and considered to indicate statistical significance of the investigated associations. Statistical analyses were not adjusted for multiple testing.

## 3 Results

### 3.1 Description of the study population

The following paragraph will provide an overview of the demographic, anthropometric and metabolic characteristics of the study population. Following this, the prevalence of DSPN and the distribution of inflammatory mediators will be described.

### 3.1.1 Characteristics of the study population

The study sample consisted of 513 individuals with recently diagnosed type 2 diabetes (n=352) and type 1 diabetes (n=161). Table 2 shows the demographic, anthropometric and metabolic characteristics of the study population stratified by type of diabetes. Significant differences between these subsamples were present for most characteristics. The subsample of type 2 diabetic participants was comprised of a higher percentage of male participants, on average displayed a higher BMI and waist circumference and was older and of shorter height compared to the subsample of type 1 diabetic participants. In addition, type 2 diabetic participants showed better glycaemic control as indicated by lower HbA1c, higher lipid levels and higher blood pressure compared to type 1 diabetic participants. Beyond this, less physical activity and a higher prevalence of myocardial infarction and/or stroke were reported in the subsample of type 2 compared to type 1 diabetes participants. Lastly, a higher percentage of type 2 compared to type 1 diabetes participants reported the intake of lipid-lowering and antihypertensive medication. Type 1 and type 2 diabetic participants did not differ significantly regarding NSAID intake, current smoking status or time since diagnosis.

Variables	Type 2 diabetes	Type 1 diabetes	р
n	352	161	
Sex (% male)	66.2	60.9	<0.001
Age (years)	52.6 ± 10,6	35.9 ± 12,5	<0.001
18-19	0.6%	8.7%	
20-29	2.8%	31.1%	
30-39	9.7%	20.5%	
40-49	23.0%	23.6%	
50-59	38.0%	11.2%	
60-69	25.0%	5.0%	
Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	31.7 ± 6.1	24.9 ± 4.3	<0.001
Waist circumference (cm)	106 ± 14	87 ± 14	<0.001
Height (cm)	172 ± 9	176 ± 10	0.001
Time since diagnosis of diabetes (days)	181 ± 96	195 ± 100	0.125
HbA1c (%)	6.53 ± 1.09	6.91 ± 1.70	0.008
HbA1c (mmol/mol)	48 ± 12	52 ± 19	0.008
Total cholesterol (mmol/l)	5.2 ± 1.1	$4.7 \pm 0.9$	<0.001
Fasting triglycerides (mmol/l)	1.4 (1.0; 2.1)	0.8 (0.6; 1.2)	<0.001
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	142 ± 18	131 ± 15	<0.001
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	85 ± 11	78 ± 10	<0.001
Hypertension (%) <sup>†</sup>	60.1	16.1	<0.001
Current smoking (%)	24.6	25.6	0.82
Physically inactive (%) <sup>++</sup>	39.9	23.0	<0.001
History of myocardial infarction and/or stroke (%)	5.1	0.6	0.010
Lipid-lowering medication (%)	23.6	2.5	<0.001
Antihypertensive medication (%)	52.1	8.1	<0.001
Non-steroidal-anti-inflammatory drugs (%)	4.5	1.9	0.961

 Table 2: Demographic, anthropometric and metabolic characteristics of the study population stratified by type of diabetes

Data are presented as percent value, median ( $25^{th}$ ,  $75^{th}$  percentile), mean ± SD. The maximum number of missing data is 19 for type 2 diabetes and 7 for type 1 diabetes. <sup>†</sup>Hypertension is defined as blood pressure ≥140/90 mmHg or use of antihypertensive medication. <sup>††</sup>Physical inactivity is defined as absence of regular physical training at the time of the examination.

#### 3.1.2 Prevalence of DSPN

The prevalence of DSPN as well as measures of motor and sensory NCV are shown in Table 3. In the present study the prevalence of DSPN was higher in type 2 diabetes (25.6%) than in type 1 diabetes (19.3%). Furthermore, motor and sensory NCV were lower in type 2 than in type 1 diabetes.

-	Type 2 diabetes	Type 1 diabetes	р
n	352	161	
DSPN (%)	25.6	19.3	<0.001
NDS	1.7 ± 2.2	0.6 ± 1.3	<0.001
	1 (0; 2)	0 (0; 0)	<0.001
NSS	$1.2 \pm 2.4$	0.5 ± 1.6	<0.001
	0 (0; 0)	0 (0; 0)	<0.001
Motor nerve conduction	on velocity (MNCV)		
Median MNCV (m/s)	53.4 ± 3.2	55.5 ± 3.9	<0.001
Ulnar MNCV (m/s)	55.8 ± 5.7	56.7 ± 5.3	0.097
Peroneal MNCV (m/s)	44.7 ± 5.1	46.1 ± 4.0	0.002
Sum score MNCV (m/s)	153.94 ± 12.36	158.30 ± 10.50	<0.001
Sensory nerve conduc	ction velocity (SNCV)		
Median SNCV (m/s)	51.7 ± 6.8	55.3 ± 6.0	<0.001
Ulnar SNCV (m/s)	53.3 ± 5.8	54.1 ± 4.4	0.100
Sural SNCV (m/s)	44.6 ± 5.8	45.6 ± 5.0	0.066
Sum score SNCV (m/s)	149.78 ± 13.70	155.03 ± 11.90	<0.001

Table 3: Prevalence of DSPN, MNCV and SNCV stratified by type of diabetes

Data are presented as percent value, median (25<sup>th</sup>, 75<sup>th</sup> percentile), mean ± SD. The maximum number of missing data is 19 for type 2 diabetes and 7 for type 1 diabetes. DSPN, distal sensorimotor polyneuropathy; NDS, Neuropathy Disability Score; NSS, Neuropathy Syptom Score; MNCV, motor nerve conduction velocity; SNCV, sensory nerve conduction velocity.

#### 3.1.3 Distribution of biomarkers of subclinical inflammation

Distributions of biomarkers of subclinical inflammation are presented in Table 4, stratified by type of diabetes. Higher levels of hsCRP, IL-6, IL-18, sICAM-1 and sE-selectin were observed in the subsample of type 2 diabetic participants compared to the subsample of type 1 diabetic participants. In contrast, levels of total and HMW adiponectin were lower in the subsample of type 2 diabetic participants compared to type 1 diabetic participants.

	Type 2 diabetes	Type 1 diabetes	р
n	352	161	
hsCRP (mg/L)	3.0 (1.6; 5.6)	1.1 (0.6; 2.0)	<0.001
IL-6 (pg/mL)	1.94 (1.32; 2.65)	0.88 (0.65; 1.38)	<0.001
IL-18 (pg/mL)	287 (227; 384)	260 (183; 322)	<0.001
Total adiponectin (ng/mL)	4008 (2983; 5355)	6101 (4112; 8095)	<0.001
HMW adiponectin (ng/mL)	1636 (995; 2440)	2751 (1557; 4280)	<0.001
HMW/total adiponectin	0.40 (0.33; 0.48)	0.45 (0.36; 0.54)	0.003
sE-selectin (ng/mL)	244 (205; 288)	217 (182; 253)	<0.001
sICAM-1 (ng/mL)	40.9 (30.7; 55.2)	34.5 (24.8; 44.9)	<0.001

Table 4: Distribution of biomarkers of subclinical inflammation stratified by type of diabetes

Data are presented as median (25<sup>th</sup>, 75<sup>th</sup> percentile). The maximum number of missing data is 19 for type 2 diabetes and 7 for type 1 diabetes. HMW, high-molecular-weight adiponectin; HMW/total adiponectin, HMW-to-total-adiponectin-ratio.

Correlations of immune mediators with each other and with demographic, anthropometric and metabolic risk factors in type 1 and type 2 diabetic participants are presented in Table A-4, A-5 and A-6 (Appendix). Briefly, in both subsamples proinflammatory mediators and adhesion molecules were positively associated among themselves and with each other. IL-18 was inversely associated with different isoforms of adiponectin in type 1 and 2 diabetes. sE-selectin was inversely associated with different isoforms of adiponectin in type 1 diabetes.

Proinflammatory mediators (hsCRP, IL-6, IL-18) and adhesion molecules (sICAM-1, sE-selectin) were significantly associated with higher BMI and waist circumference and with a less favourable metabolic profile (e.g. increased triglycerides, total cholesterol, HbA1c) in type 1 and type 2 diabetes. In both subsamples different isoforms of adiponectin were associated with lower BMI, waist circumference, height and triglyceride levels and with female sex. In type 2 but not type 1 diabetic participants, different measures of adiponectin were further associated with higher age, reduced HbA1c, increased total cholesterol and NSAID intake.

# 3.2 Association between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and DSPN

In the following paragraph, associations between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and DSPN will be presented, stratified by type of diabetes. First, associations between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and MNCV will be presented for single nerves (Table 5 and 6) and for the sum score (Table 7). Second,

associations between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and SNCV will be shown for single nerves (Table 8 and 9) and for the sum score (Table 10). Lastly, results regarding the association between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and presence of DSPN are presented (Table 11).

## 3.2.1 Association between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and MNCV in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes

In type 2 diabetic individuals IL-6 was inversely associated with the MNCV sum score (Table 7). This association was mostly driven by associations between IL-6 and median and peroneal NCV (Table 5). In addition, total and HMW adioponectin as well as their ratio were inversely associated with the MNCV sum score (Table 7). Associations between different measures of adiponectin and MNCV sum score were mostly driven by associations between adiponectin measures and peroneal NCV (Table 5). Furthermore, hsCRP levels were inversely associated with the MNCV sum score in model 1 but failed to reach statistical significance after further adjustment (Table 7, models 2 and 3).

In type 1 diabetic individuals hsCRP, IL-6 and sICAM-1 levels were inversely associated with the MNCV sum score. However, statistical significance did not remain after further adjustment (Table 7). In contrast, positive associations were found between total as well as HMW adiponectin and the sum score for motor NCV, which were strengthened after further adjustment and reached statistical significance after full adjustment (Table 7, model 3). This association was mainly driven by positive associations between total as well as HMW adiponectin and ulnar MNCV (Table 6).

To emphasize differences between type 1 and type 2 diabetic patients, effect sizes of significant associations and their 95% confidence interval are summarized in direct comparison of both subsamples in Figure 2 (MNCV in single nerves) and 3 (MNCV sum score). Inverse associations between IL-6 and motor NCV were found in both types of diabetes but after full adjustment they remained significant only in type 2 diabetes participants. Contradicting results became evident in these subsamples of different diabetes types regarding adiponectin's association with MNCV. While a positive association was found between adiponectin and MNCV in type 1 diabetes, adiponectin measures were inversely associated in type 2 diabetes. Beyond this, wider confidence intervals in the smaller subsample of type 1 diabetes indicate reduced statistical power.

Nerve type	Immune mediator	Model 1		Model 2		Model 3	
		β	р	β	р	β	р
Median MNCV	hsCRP	-0.161	0.004	-0.073	0.242	-0.075	0.250
	IL-6	-0.227	<0.001	-0.161	0.005	-0.159	0.009
	IL-18	0.001	0.979	0.079	0.137	0.093	0.089
	Total adiponectin	0.036	0.543	-0.009	0.875	-0.024	0.680
	HMW adiponectin	0.044	0.456	-0.003	0.954	-0.023	0.690
	HMW/total adiponectin	0.046	0.420	0.005	0.927	-0.018	0.756
	sE-selectin	-0.088	0.098	0.006	0.916	0.030	0.592
	sICAM-1	-0.129	0.016	-0.065	0.229	-0.044	0.447
Ulnar MNCV	hsCRP	-0.085	0.129	-0.075	0.243	-0.082	0.209
	IL-6	-0.083	0.117	-0.068	0.243	-0.066	0.282
	IL-18	0.004	0.939	0.032	0.559	0.031	0.575
	Total adiponectin	-0.057	0.328	-0.081	0.166	-0.088	0.134
	HMW adiponectin	-0.054	0.349	-0.082	0.159	-0.094	0.110
	HMW/total adiponectin	-0.040	0.471	-0.068	0.232	-0.084	0.142
	sE-selectin	0.025	0.639	0.063	0.261	0.072	0.206
	sICAM-1	-0.033	0.535	-0.008	0.886	0.024	0.685
Peroneal MNCV	hsCRP	-0.071	0.185	-0.097	0.096	-0.116	0.054
	IL-6	-0.146	0.004	-0.146	0.005	-0.174	0.002
	IL-18	0.070	0.165	0.091	0.067	0.098	0.052
	Total adiponectin	-0.118	0.033	-0.140	0.009	-0.158	0.004
	HMW	-0.115	0.038	-0.147	0.005	-0.168	0.002
	adiponectin						
	HMW/total adiponectin	-0.088	0.102	-0.129	0.012	-0.149	0.004
	sE-selectin	-0.018	0.723	0.000	1.000	0.009	0.861
	sICAM-1	-0.006	0.910	0.015	0.763	0.022	0.688

Table 5: Association between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and MNCV of single nerves in patients with type 2 diabetes

The table gives regression coefficients ( $\beta$ ) and corresponding p values from linear regression models. Immune mediators entered the models as log-transformed levels in the units given in Table 1. Model 1: adjusted for age and sex. Model 2: model 1 + time since diagnosis of diabetes, HbA1c, waist circumference, height, total cholesterol, hypertension. Model 3: model 2 + current smoking, physical activity, use of lipid-lowering medication, use of NSAIDs, history of myocardial infarction and/or stroke. HMW, high-molecular-weight adiponectin; HMW/total adiponectin, HMW-to-total-adiponectin-ratio; MNCV, motor nerve conduction velocity.

Nerve type	Immune	Model		Model		Model	
	mediator	1		2		3	
		β	р	β	р	β	р
Median MNCV	hsCRP	-0.205	0.009	-0.105	0.234	-0.078	0.396
	IL-6	-0.229	0.003	-0.167	0.052	-0.124	0.188
	IL-18	-0.072	0.352	-0.013	0.866	0.003	0.970
	Total adiponectin	0.058	0.497	0.038	0.666	0.081	0.373
	HMW adiponectin	0.044	0.615	0.027	0.759	0.074	0.418
	HMW/total adiponectin	0.010	0.905	0.005	0.954	0.046	0.598
	sE-selectin	-0.075	0.335	0.016	0.842	0.049	0.565
	sICAM-1	-0.217	0.004	-0.170	0.028	-0.126	0.167
Ulnar MNCV	hsCRP	-0.096	0.245	-0.154	0.110	-0.084	0.382
	IL-6	-0.200	0.014	-0.259	0.005	-0.139	0.157
	IL-18	-0.037	0.645	-0.056	0.508	-0.044	0.599
	Total adiponectin	0.127	0.150	0.190	0.049	0.252	0.007
	HMW adiponectin	0.129	0.155	0.179	0.063	0.254	0.007
	HMW/total adiponectin	0.099	0.269	0.122	0.185	0.198	0.028
	sE-selectin	0.009	0.909	0.009	0.920	0.075	0.402
	sICAM-1	-0.157	0.051	-0.193	0.022	-0.095	0.321
Peroneal MNCV	hsCRP	-0.120	0.137	-0.127	0.151	-0.095	0.288
	IL-6	-0.121	0.127	-0.060	0.488	-0.012	0.897
	IL-18	0.087	0.266	0.091	0.243	0.092	0.239
	Total adiponectin	0.081	0.344	0.111	0.209	0.170	0.054
	HMW adiponectin	0.096	0.277	0.109	0.218	0.165	0.061
	HMW/total adiponectin	0.096	0.274	0.081	0.343	0.121	0.156
	sE-selectin	0.042	0.596	0.083	0.308	0.087	0.295
	sICAM-1	-0.043	0.581	-0.055	0.483	-0.054	0.549

 Table 6: Association between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and MNCV of single nerves in patients with type 1 diabetes

The table gives regression coefficients ( $\beta$ ) and corresponding p values from linear regression models. Immune mediators entered the models as log-transformed levels in the units given in Table 1. Model 1: adjusted for age and sex. Model 2: model 1 + time since diagnosis of diabetes, HbA1c, waist circumference, height, total cholesterol, hypertension. Model 3: model 2 + current smoking, physical activity, use of lipid-lowering medication, use of NSAIDs. HMW, high-molecular-weight adiponectin; HMW/total adiponectin, HMW-to-total-adiponectin-ratio; MNCV, motor nerve conduction velocity.



associations (p>0.05); continuous lines indicate significant associations (p<0.05). HMW, high-molecular-weight adiponectin; HMW/total adiponectin, HMW-to-total-adiponectin-ratio; MNCV, motor nerve conduction velocity. Figure 2: Comparison of regression coefficients ( $\beta$ ) and 95% confidence intervals of significant associations between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and MNCV of single nerves in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes. Dotted lines indicate non-significant

Diabetes Type	Immune mediator	Model 1		Model 2		Model 3	
		β	р	β	р	β	р
Type 2	hsCRP	-0.128	0.019	-0.097	0.107	-0.109	0.080
Diabetes	IL-6	-0.184	0.001	-0.152	0.005	-0.161	0.006
	IL-18	0.032	0.531	0.081	0.117	0.088	0.091
	Total adiponectin	-0.060	0.289	-0.094	0.088	-0.111	0.048
	HMW adiponectin	-0.054	0.339	-0.096	0.083	-0.117	0.037
	HMW/total	-0.035	0.517	-0.079	0.141	-0.103	0.058
	adiponectin						
	sE-selectin	-0.032	0.530	0.028	0.604	0.045	0.406
	sICAM-1	-0.067	0.197	-0.023	0.652	0.001	0.985
Type 1	hsCRP	-0.176	0.027	-0.162	0.073	-0.107	0.238
Diabetes	IL-6	-0.233	0.003	-0.209	0.017	-0.120	0.199
	IL-18	-0.014	0.859	0.005	0.954	0.017	0.830
	Total adiponectin	0.112	0.188	0.143	0.113	0.211	0.017
	HMW adiponectin	0.113	0.198	0.133	0.141	0.208	0.019
	HMW/total	0.085	0.326	0.087	0.314	0.154	0.072
	adiponectin						
	sE-selectin	-0.012	0.878	0.043	0.606	0.088	0.298
	sICAM-1	-0.179	0.020	-0.180	0.023	-0.117	0.195

Table 7: Association between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and MNCV sum score in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes

The table gives regression coefficients ( $\beta$ ) and corresponding p values from linear regression models. Immune mediators entered the models as log-transformed levels in the units given in Table 1. Model 1: adjusted for age and sex. Model 2: model 1 + time since diagnosis of diabetes, HbA1c, waist circumference, height, total cholesterol, hypertension. Model 3: model 2 + current smoking, physical activity, use of lipid-lowering medication, use of NSAIDs, history of myocardial infarction and/or stroke. HMW, high-molecular-weight adiponectin; HMW/total adiponectin, HMW-to-total-adiponectin-ratio; MNCV, motor nerve conduction velocity.



Figure 3: Comparison of regression coefficients ( $\beta$ ) and 95% confidence intervals of significant associations between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and MNCV sum score in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes. Dotted lines indicate non-significant associations (p>0.05); continuous lines indicate significant associations (p<0.05) HMW, high-molecular-weight adiponectin; MNCV, motor nerve conduction velocity.

Results

## 3.2.2 Association between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and SNCV in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes

In type 2 diabetic individuals total and HMW adiponectin as well as their ratio were inversely associated with the SNCV sum score (Table 10). These associations were similar for median, ulnar and sural NCV (Table 8). Furthemore, IL-18 was positively associated with the SNCV sum score after full adjustment (Table 10, model 3). Lastly, sICAM-1 levels were positively associated with median SNCV after adjustment (Table 8, model 2 and 3).

In type 1 diabetic individuals, inverse associations between HMW adiponectin as well as the ratio of HMW-to-total-adiponectin with ulnar SNCV were significantly associated and remained statistically significant after full adjustment (Table 9, model 3).

To emphasize differences between type 1 and type 2 diabetic patients, effect sizes of significant associations and their 95% confidence interval are summarized in direct comparison of both subsamples in Figure 4 (SNCV in single nerves) and Figure 5 (SNCV sum score). Inverse associations between different measures of adiponectin and SNCV were found in both subsamples of type 1 and type 2 diabetes. However, in type 1 diabetes patients these associations did not reach statistical significance with the exception of ulnar SNCV. Wider confidence intervals of effect sizes in the smaller subsample of type 1 diabetes patients indicate reduced statistical power.

Nerve type	Immune mediator	Model 1		Model 2		Model 3	
		β	р	β	р	β	р
Median SNCV	hsCRP	-0.013	0.822	0.084	0.184	0.082	0.214
	IL-6	-0.049	0.363	0.030	0.601	0.032	0.607
	IL-18	-0.030	0.568	0.025	0.646	0.033	0.552
	Total adiponectin	-0.110	0.062	-0.138	0.016	-0.145	0.014
	HMW adiponectin	-0.097	0.096	-0.123	0.033	-0.135	0.021
	HMW/total adiponectin	-0.062	0.275	-0.078	0.165	-0.096	0.092
	sE-selectin	-0.042	0.432	0.053	0.343	0.061	0.282
	sICAM-1	0.061	0.259	0.123	0.022	0.138	0.018
Ulnar SNCV	hsCRP	-0.063	0.258	-0.019	0.764	-0.007	0.910
	IL-6	-0.064	0.227	-0.041	0.478	-0.020	0.740
	IL-18	0.086	0.098	0.122	0.022	0.122	0.025
	Total adiponectin	-0.115	0.045	-0.130	0.024	-0.142	0.016
	HMW adiponectin	-0.116	0.043	-0.134	0.019	-0.146	0.021
	HMW/total adiponectin	-0.095	0.088	-0.115	0.040	-0.125	0.027
	sE-selectin	-0.085	0.105	-0.037	0.507	-0.032	0.577
	sICAM-1	-0.055	0.298	-0.021	0.691	0.006	0.922
Sural SNCV	hsCRP	-0.043	0.432	-0.083	0.176	-0.098	0.123
	IL-6	-0.037	0.470	-0.060	0.280	-0.068	0.253
	IL-18	0.077	0.134	0.078	0.134	0.087	0.103
	Total adiponectin	-0.131	0.020	-0.136	0.014	-0.143	0.013
	HMW adiponectin	-0.128	0.023	-0.140	0.012	-0.149	0.009
	HMW/total adiponectin	-0.100	0.069	-0.118	0.029	-0.130	0.019
	sE-selectin	-0.050	0.329	-0.064	0.234	-0.059	0.285
	sICAM-1	-0.046	0.379	-0.052	0.320	-0.063	0.272

 Table 8: Association between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and SNCV of single nerves in patients with type 2 diabetes

The table gives regression coefficients ( $\beta$ ) and corresponding p values from logistic regression models. Immune mediators entered the models as log-transformed levels in the units given in Table 1. Model 1: adjusted for age and sex. Model 2: model 1 + time since diagnosis of diabetes, HbA1c, waist circumference, height, total cholesterol, hypertension. Model 3: model 2 + current smoking, physical activity, use of lipid-lowering medication, use of NSAIDs, history of myocardial infarction and/or stroke. HMW, high-molecular-weight adiponectin; HMW/total adiponectin, HMW-to-total-adiponectin-ratio; SNCV, sensory nerve conduction velocity.

Nerve type	Immune mediator	Model 1		Model 2		Model 3	
		β	р	β	р	β	р
Median SNCV	hsCRP	-0.101	0.199	-0.062	0.496	-0.065	0.488
	IL-6	-0.067	0.392	-0.052	0.550	-0.078	0.418
	IL-18	0.018	0.815	0.043	0.592	0.040	0.625
	Total adiponectin	-0.039	0.645	-0.062	0.489	-0.076	0.410
	HMW adiponectin	-0.083	0.336	-0.097	0.279	-0.113	0.220
	HMW/total adiponectin	-0.135	0.116	-0.125	0.145	-0.141	0.112
	sE-selectin	-0.158	0.041	-0.137	0.094	-0.124	0.154
	sICAM-1	-0.123	0.108	-0.114	0.152	-0.145	0.115
Ulnar SNCV	hsCRP	-0.061	0.459	-0.141	0.141	-0.156	0.116
	IL-6	-0.001	0.987	-0.036	0.697	-0.049	0.633
	IL-18	-0.002	0.983	-0.027	0.748	-0.002	0.978
	Total adiponectin	-0.171	0.049	-0.147	0.118	-0.147	0.129
	HMW adiponectin	-0.218	0.014	-0.195	0.038	-0.191	0.049
	HMW/total adiponectin	-0.240	0.006	-0.219	0.015	-0.211	0.024
	sE-selectin	-0.057	0.484	-0.085	0.328	-0.068	0.460
	sICAM-1	-0.115	0.148	-0.175	0.037	-0.211	0.030
Sural SNCV	hsCRP	-0.014	0.864	-0.080	0.385	-0.090	0.339
	IL-6	0.154	0.053	0.122	0.169	0.112	0.243
	IL-18	0.053	0.507	-0.004	0.964	-0.016	0.844
	Total adiponectin	0.026	0.766	0.088	0.334	0.120	0.194
	HMW adiponectin	-0.012	0.889	0.034	0.710	0.062	0.501
	HMW/total adiponectin	-0.072	0.413	-0.052	0.550	-0.036	0.687
	sE-selectin	0.160	0.045	0.129	0.121	0.137	0.113
	sICAM-1	0.048	0.546	0.009	0.913	-0.023	0.805

 Table 9: Association between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and SNCV of single nerves in patients with type 1 diabetes

The table gives regression coefficients ( $\beta$ ) and corresponding p values from logistic regression models. Immune mediators entered the models as log-transformed levels in the units given in Table 1. Model 1: adjusted for age and sex. Model 2: model 1 + time since diagnosis of diabetes, HbA1c, waist circumference, height, total cholesterol, hypertension. Model 3: model 2 + current smoking, physical activity, use of lipid-lowering medication, use of NSAIDs. HMW, high-molecular-weight adiponectin; HMW/total adiponectin, HMW-to-total-adiponectin-ratio. SNCV, sensory nerve conduction velocity.



associations (p>0.05); continuous lines indicate significant associations (p<0.05). HMW, high-molecular-weight adiponectin; HMW/total adiponectin, HMW-to-total-adiponectin-ratio; SNCV, sensory nerve conduction velocity. Figure 4: Comparison of regression coefficients ( $\beta$ ) and 95% confidence intervals of significant associations between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and SNCV of single nerves in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes. Dotted lines indicate non-significant

♦ Typ 1

Results

Diabates type	Immune mediator	Model 1		Model 2		Model 3	
		β	p	ß	p	β	p
Type 2	hsCRP	-0.047	0.389	-0.019	0.758	-0.026	0.689
diabetes	IL-6	-0.062	0.236	-0.036	0.524	-0.034	0.575
	IL-18	0.075	0.146	0.103	0.0496	0.110	0.040
	Total adiponectin	-0.163	0.004	-0.180	0.001	-0.193	0.001
	HMW adiponectin	-0.160	0.004	-0.180	0.001	-0.196	0.001
	HMW/total	-0.126	0.021	-0.143	0.009	-0.162	0.003
	adiponectin						
	sE-selectin	-0.066	0.201	-0.017	0.753	-0.010	0.863
	sICAM-1	-0.003	0.954	0.027	0.610	0.038	0.509
Type 1	hsCRP	-0.088	0.264	-0.131	0.152	-0.141	0.139
diabetes	IL-6	0.035	0.650	0.015	0.866	-0.001	0.991
	IL-18	0.028	0.721	0.005	0.951	0.010	0.900
	Total adiponectin	-0.078	0.353	-0.055	0.541	-0.045	0.631
	HMW adiponectin	-0.132	0.126	-0.111	0.221	-0.101	0.280
	HMW/total	-0.187	0.028	-0.165	0.055	-0.160	0.075
	adiponectin						
	sE-selectin	-0.015	0.850	-0.024	0.771	-0.008	0.928
	sICAM-1	-0.078	0.313	-0.116	0.150	-0.146	0.118

Table 10: Association between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and SNCV sum score in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes

The table gives regression coefficients ( $\beta$ ) and corresponding p values from linear regression models. Immune mediators entered the models as log-transformed levels in the units given in Table 1. Model 1: adjusted for age and sex. Model 2: model 1 + time since diagnosis of diabetes, HbA1c, waist circumference, height, total cholesterol, hypertension. Model 3: model 2 + current smoking, physical activity, use of lipid-lowering medication and use of NSAIDs. HMW, high-molecular-weight adiponectin; HMW/total adiponectin, HMW-to-total-adiponectin-ratio; SNCV, sensory nerve conduction velocity.



associations (p>0.05); continuous lines indicate significant associations (p<0.05) HMW, high-molecular-weight adiponectin; HMW/total adiponectin, HMW/total adiponectin, HMW-to-total-adiponectin-ratio; SNCV, sensory nerve conduction velocity. of subclinical inflammation and SNCV sum score in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes. Dotted lines indicate non-significant Figure 5: Comparison of regression coefficients ( $\beta$ ) and 95% confidence intervals of significant associations between biomarkers

## 3.2.3 Association between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and presence of DSPN in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes

As shown in Table 11 IL-6, total and HMW adiponectin were positively associated with the presence of DSPN in the subsample of type 2 diabetic participants and remained statistically significant after full adjustment (models 2 and 3). The association between the HMW-to-total-adiponectin-ratio and presence of DSPN reached statistical significance only after further adjustment (model 2 and 3). In contrast, hsCRP, IL-18, sE-selectin and sICAM-1 were not associated with the presence of DSPN in type 2 diabetic participants. In the subgroup of type 1 diabetic participants, no association was found between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and presence of DSPN.

Significant associations in type 2 diabetes patients are summarized in Figure 6. Effect sizes of these associations and their 95% confidence intervals are presented in direct comparison to corresponding associations in type 1 diabetes. Effect sizes were larger in type 2 diabetes, increased with further adjustment and displayed narrower confidence intervals than corresponding associations in type 1 diabetes.

Diabetes	Immune	Model 1		Model 2		Model	
type	mediator					3	
	-	β	р	β	р	β	р
Type 2	hsCRP	0.207	0.136	0.179	0.261	0.175	0.216
diabetes							
	IL-6	0.513	0.028	0.486	0.058	0.575	0.039
	IL-18	-0.282	0.352	-0.515	0.114	-0.484	0.152
	Total adiponectin	0.784	0.016	0.949	0.006	1.007	0.005
	HMW adiponectin	0.478	0.021	0.579	0.005	0.615	0.007
	HMW/total	0.812	0.077	0.974	0.045	1.057	0.032
	adiponectin						
	sE-selectin	0.241	0.416	0.008	0.980	0.005	0.988
	sICAM-1	0.417	0.329	0.151	0.734	0.149	0.760
Type 1	hsCRP	0.197	0.327	0.249	0.301	0.244	0.337
diabetes							
	IL-6	0.201	0.573	0.155	0.707	0.118	0.796
	IL-18	0.025	0.953	-0.003	0.994	-0.032	0.946
	Total adiponectin	-0.477	0.271	-0.692	0.166	-0.883	0.097
	HMW adiponectin	-0.333	0.248	-0.457	0.154	-0.578	0.083
	HMW/total	-0.682	0.323	-0.838	0.248	-1.086	0.142
	adiponectin						
	sE-selectin	0.135	0.778	0.036	0.945	0.125	0.827
	sICAM-1	0.385	0.607	0.340	0.675	0.879	0.386

Table 11: Association between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and presence of DSPN in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes

The table gives regression coefficients ( $\beta$ ) and corresponding p values from logistic regression models. Immune mediators entered the models as log-transformed levels in the units given in Table 1. Model 1: adjusted for age and sex. Model 2: model 1 + time since diagnosis of diabetes, HbA1c, waist circumference, height, total cholesterol, hypertension. Model 3: model 2 + current smoking, physical activity, use of lipid-lowering medication, use of NSAIDs, history of myocardial infarction and/or stroke (the latter variable for type 2 diabetes only). HMW, high-molecular-weight adiponectin; HMW/total adiponectin, HMW-to-total-adiponectin-ratio.



Figure 6: Comparison of regression coefficients ( $\beta$ ) and 95% confidence intervals of significant associations between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and presence of DSPN in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes. Dotted lines indicate non-significant associations (p>0.05); continuous lines indicate significant associations (p<0.05). HMW, high-molecular-weight adiponectin; HMW/total adiponectin, HMW/total adiponectin, HMW-to-total-adiponectin-ratio.

Results

.

The present study identified associations between multiple biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and NCV in patients with recently diagnosed type 1 or type 2 diabetes. Taken together, the study has the following three main findings. First, in individuals with type 2 diabetes, higher serum IL-6 was associated with the presence of DSPN and reduced motor NCV, whereas no consistent associations were observed for hsCRP, IL-18, sICAM-1 and sE-selectin. Second, higher levels of HMW and total adiponectin were consistently associated with the presence of DSPN and both reduced MNCV and SNCV in individuals with type 2 diabetes. Third, in patients with type 1 diabetes higher HMW and total adiponectin were associated with higher MNCV.

### 4.1 Study population

#### 4.1.1 Characteristics of the study population

The present study consists of subsamples of type 1 and type 2 diabetic participants. The average time since patients had received their diagnosis of diabetes mellitus was 181 days in type 2 diabetic individuals and 195 days in type 1 diabetic individuals. Time since diagnosis did not differ significantly between both subsamples. This is of particular importance as this design allows to investigate the association between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and DSPN before the onset of potentially confounding complications which usually emerge in the course of disease. However, subsamples of type 1 and type 2 diabetes in the present study were recruited as part of an ongoing prospective observational study which is not designed as a population-based study. Therefore, the present study population cannot claim to represent the population of diabetes patients in Germany.

Significant differences between type 1 and type 2 diabetic participants regarding anthropometric, metabolic and demographic characteristics nevertheless reflect typical features commonly associated with type 1 and type 2 diabetes. Thus, in line with the previous literature type 2 diabetic participants were older and features of the metabolic syndrome were more pronounced in this subsample (Air & Kissela 2007; Isomaa et al. 2001). Type 2 diabetic participants on average were obese, showed greater abdominal distribution of fat mass (as indicated by waist circumference), hypertension and increased levels of cholesterol and triglycerides. Consequently, the intake of lipid-lowering and antihypertensive medication and prevalence of myocardial infarction and strokes were reported to be higher in type 2 diabetes patients.

A higher percentage of male participants in the subgroup of type 1 diabetes is in line with the current literature which reports a greater percentage of male patients at least in the European population (Maahs et al. 2010). In the subsample of type 2 diabetic patients, a higher percentage of male than female participants became evident. The percentage of male type 2 diabetic patients was also higher than in other cohorts which may be a consequence of a more frequent manifestation of disease in men under the age of 65 (Bonetti et al. 2011; Davies et al. 2008, Gatling et al. 2001). In line with this a total of 75% of the type 2 diabetic patients in the present study was younger than 65 years. This selection bias results from the inclusion criteria based on an age range of 18-69 years, whereas older patients with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes are not recruited (Szendroedi et al. 2016).

Taken together, the sample may not be representative of the german diabetic population but nevertheless it seems well suited to investigate the hypothesis outlined above as it appears to reflect differences commonly found between type 1 and type 2 diabetes.

#### 4.1.2 Prevalence of DSPN

In the present sample the prevalence of DSPN assessed as a combined measure of symptoms, signs and NCS was 25.6% in type 2 diabetes and 19.3% in type 1 diabetes. At first sight, these results are comparable with previous studies. A prevalence of 28% of DSPN was reported in type 2 diabetic patients in the German population and in 12.9% to 28.5% of type 1 diabetic individuals in clinic-based sample (Albers et al. 2010; Cabezas-Cerrato 1998; Tesfaye et al. 2005; Van Acker et al. 2009; Young et al.1993; Ziegler et al. 2008). Beyond that, a higher prevalence of DSPN in type 2 compared to type 1 diabetes is consistenly supported by previous research (Cabezas-Cerrato 1998; Van Acker et al. 2009; Young et al. 1993). However, in the present study diabetic individuals with *recent* onset of disease were investigated, in which the prevalence has been reported to be lower (Partanen et al. 1995; Shaw et al. 1998). Therefore, results of the present study suggest that the prevalence of DSPN in newly diagnosed diabetic individuals might be higher than expected and may be identified when taking into account symptoms, signs and NCV.

#### 4.1.3 Biomarkers of subclinical inflammation

In the present study type 1 and type 2 diabetic participants exhibited a different serum immune profile with significant higher levels of proinflammatory cytokines and soluble

adhesion molecules in type 2 than in type 1 diabetes while levels of adiponectin were significantly lower in type 2 compared to type 1 diabetes.

In previous studies increased levels of inflammatory mediators were consistently reported in the diabetic population when compared to healthy controls (Devaraj et al. 2010). However, given that subsamples of the present study were recruited as part of a larger observational study, data of a healthy control group were not available. Nevertheless, the present study extends current knowledge, as levels of proinflammatory mediators were shown to differ significantly between type 1 and type 2 diabetes patients and were higher in type 2 diabetes. Lower levels of adiponectin in type 2 compared to type 1 diabetes in the present study reflect the current literature which consistently reports adiponectin to be decreased in type 2 diabetes while increased in type 1 diabetes (Krakoff et al. 2003; Nigro et al. 2014; Fantuzzi 2008; Hadjadj et al. 2005). However, exact regulatory mechanisms of adiponectin and their pathophysiological implications in these two diseases remain uncertain. Given its insulin-sensitizing effect in type 1 and type 2 diabetes it might be speculated that differences in adiponectin between these two types of diabetes are a consequence of a more complex interplay between insulin and adiponectin. Accordingly, higher adiponectin levels in type 1 diabetes may be due to a lack of endogenous insulin production while decreased adiponectin levels in type 2 diabetes may result as a response to chronic hyperinsulinaemia. Previous research also links adiponectin to cardiovascular disease and some authors suggested that adiponectin may act as an indicator of cardiovascular diseases. In this context atrial natriuretic peptide and brain natriuretic peptide which both indicate cardiovascular stress, have been shown to increase adiponectin release (Sattar 2011). Therefore, adiponectin might reflect underlying cardiovascular disease which is the most important macrovascular complication of diabetes mellitus. Nevertheless, this approach cannot explain the robust finding of higher adiponectin levels in type 1 compared to type 2 diabetes. Moreover, in the present sample the presence of cardiovascular disease was very low as only recently diagnosed diabetes patients were included.

# 4.2 Subclinical inflammation and DSPN in type 1 and type 2 diabetes

Regarding the association between subclinical inflammation and NCV it was hypothesized that acute-phase proteins (hsCRP) and proinflammatory mediators (IL-6, IL-18), adhesion molecules (sICAM-1, sE-selectin) and adiponectin are associated with MNCV and SNCV and with presence of DSPN in type 1 and type 2 diabetes.

#### Acute-phase protein hsCRP and proinflammatory cytokines IL-6 and IL-18

In type 2 diabetes participants, higher IL-6 levels were associated with reduced MNCV and with the presence of DSPN. However, no association was found between IL-6 and SNCV. These findings suggest a differential role of IL-6 in NCV slowing in motor versus sensory nerves, at least in type 2 diabetes. The association between IL-6 and the MNCV sum score was mostly driven by associations between IL-6 and peroneal and median NCV. This may indicate that different nerves are prone differentially to inflammation-related NCV slowing. Similarly, it has been suggested by others that the extent of NCV slowing differs between different nerves (Charles et al. 2010; Partanen et al. 1995). However, present results do not support the notion that nerves of the upper versus the lower limbs are affected differently as associations between IL-6 and peroneal and median NCV were comparable (Chrales et al. 2010). As the exact mechanisms linking biomarkers of subclinical inflammation to NCV slowing are unknown, potential differential effects on different nerves and nervemodality remain descriptive. Nevertheless, present findings are supported by previous studies in type 2 diabetes and population-based samples which demonstrated an inverse association between higher IL-6 levels and decreased motor NCV and positive associations between IL-6 and numerous symptoms and signs of DSPN (Herder et al. 2009.; Herder et al. 2013a; Kökoglu et al. 2009; Magrinelli et al. 2015).

In type 1 diabetic patients of the present study IL-6 was not associated with MNCV or SNCV or presence of DSPN. At first sight, this may suggest a differential role of IL-6 in the slowing of NCV in type 1 versus type 2 diabetes patients. However, wider confidence intervals of effect sizes in type 1 diabetes patients suggest reduced statistical power in this subsample. This is most likely a consequence of a smaller sample size of type 1 diabetic participants in the present study. After all, direct comparison of effect sizes and confidence intervals of the association between IL-6 and motor NCV in type 1 and type 2 diabetes patients suggest similar inverse associations in both subsamples. Nevertheless, the latter assumption remains speculative as results in the subsample of type 1 diabetes participants did not reach statistical significance. However, from a mechanistic perspective it is biologically plausible that IL-6 which has various proinflammatory properties, may be implicated in structural and/or functional deficits of nerve fibres by direct or indirect effects in both diabetes types.

In the present study no association was found between hsCRP and MNCV or SNCV or presence of DSPN in type 1 or type 2 diabetes patients. Previous research regarding the association between CRP and DSPN is ambiguous. While some studies did

demonstrate an association of CRP with symptoms and signs of DSPN in type 1 and type 2 diabetes (Herder 2009.; Herder 2013a), others did not find an association between CRP and sural NCV in type 2 diabetic individuals (Kang et al. 2005; Kökoglu et al. 2009; Magrinelli et al. 2015). As mentioned above, in the present study insufficient statistical power in the subsample of type 1 diabetes individuals may have been of relevance. Nevertheless, present results support the assumption that CRP is not associated with NCV in recently diagnosed type 2 diabetic individuals. Taken together, even though previous research provides some evidence that CRP may be implicated in the development of DSPN, there is considerable more evidence for a causal role of the IL-6 system in the development of DSPN which is supported by results of the present study (Devaraj et al. 2010). However, a temporal relationship cannot be concluded based on the present cross-sectional design. Nevertheless the aforementioned assumption is supported by a prospective population-based study which reported increased systemic levels of IL-6 to be associated with higher risk of DSPN over 6.5 years (Herder et al. 2017).

This is the first study to demonstrate an association between IL-18 and NCV. In the present study a positive association was found between IL-18 and ulnar SNCV in type 2 diabetes participants. Results indicate that higher levels of IL-18 are associated with less NCV slowing. However, no association was found between IL-18 and presence of DSPN or MNCV in type 1 or type 2 diabetes patients. Although previous findings regarding the association between IL-18 and DSPN are inconsistent, some results according to which IL-18 was inversely associated to some measures of DSPN in type 2 diabetes, point into the same direction as present results (Herder et al. 2009). Taken together previous results and results of the present study suggest that higher IL-18 levels may be associated with less symptoms, signs and SNCV slowing. Although at first sight it appears that results suggest a rather protective role of IL-18 in DSPN, an association between IL-18 and symptoms and signs is not supported by results of the present study as no association became evident between IL-18 and presence of DSPN. Beyond that, IL-18 was previously found to be associated with a higher MNSI score in a population-based sample (Herder et al. 2013a), while no association was found between IL-18 and DSPN in a prospective population-based study (Herder et al. 2017). Given the cross-sectional design of the present study in which furthermore only recently diagnosed diabetic individuals were investigated, the exact role of IL-18 in the development of DSPN remains unresolved as a more complex interplay between IL-18, NCV and symptoms and signs of DSPN cannot be ruled out with certainty.

#### Adiponectin as an anti-inflammatory factor

In type 2 diabetic individuals, higher levels of HMW and total adiponectin as well as their ratio were associated with decreased MNCV and SNCV and presence of DSPN. Hence, results suggest that higher adiponectin levels are associated with greater risk of DSPN. Up to date no other study has demonstrated an independent inverse association between adiponectin levels and NCV as an indicator of DSPN. Previous studies in various populations either showed a positive association between adiponectin and different measures of DSPN or were not able to show any association at all (Herder et al. 2009; Herder et al. 2013a; Jung et al. 2014). In a prospective population-based study lower systemic adiponectin levels were linked to a higher risk of DSPN over 6.5 years (Herder et al. 2017). Results of the present study are counterintuitive as adiponectin has been shown to act anti-inflammatory and atheroprotective and higher adiponectin levels are associated with decreased risk to develop type 2 diabetes (Nigro et al. 2014). One possible explanation might be that findings are a result of confounding by underlying cardiovascular disease. As mentioned earlier release of adiponectin is increased by atrial natriuretic peptide as well as brain natriuretic peptide which both indicate cardiac stress (Sattar 2011). However, in the present study extensive adjustment for the history of myocardial infarction and/or stroke as well as for numerous cardiovascular risk factors diminishes the risk of confounding by cardiovascular disease. Beyond this, the presence of this macrovascular diabetic complication is unlikely in the present study sample, as only recently diagnosed type 1 and type 2 diabetic individuals were included. Interestingly, some studies have shown that higher adiponectin levels are also associated with retinopathy which is a different manifestation of microvascular complications in diabetes. Higher levels of adiponectin were found in type 2 diabetic patients with retinopathy compared to those without retinopathy (Jung et al. 2014; Kato et al. 2008; Pradeepa et al. 2015). These findings support results of the present study and accordingly point towards an implication of higher adiponectin in microvascular complications in type 2 diabetes. Nevertheless, exact mechanisms linking adiponectin to microvascular complications and DSPN in particular remain uncertain. Despite its anti-inflammatory and atheroprotective functions and its beneficial effects on the risk for incidence of type 2 diabetes, data of the present study suggest that at least during recent onset of disease higher adiponectin may be associated with DSPN development. However, as analyses were cross-sectional conclusions regarding causal associations cannot be drawn. Therefore it remains uncertain whether adiponectin directly impacts nerve function or whether adiponectin is upregulated, eventually in a protective approach, as a consequence of nerve damage.

52

In type 1 diabetic patients higher total and HMW adiponectin levels were associated with higher MNCV. These results strongly contrast findings in type 2 diabetes and suggest differential associations between adiponectin and DSPN in type 1 versus type 2 diabetes. It is possible that the upregulation of adiponectin reflects a protective mechanism sustaining motor nerve function in type 1 diabetes. Nevertheless, this interpretation of results remains speculative as exact underlaying regulatory mechanisms of adiponectin are uncertain and it is not known how adiponectin exerts effects on nerve function. The presented positive association may as well be a consequence of confounding conditions which however is highly unlikely as extensive adjustment for potential confounders was performed. Previous studies have indeed suggested differential roles of adiponectin in type1 and type 2 diabetes which supports the emerging notion of the present study (Fantuzzi 2008; Frystyk et al. 2005).

Interestingly, associations between adiponectin and NCV sum scores were mostly driven by adiponectins association with peroneal NCV in type 2 diabetes and with ulnar NCV in type 1 diabetes. Results suggest that different nerves might be affected differentially by inflammation-associated NCV slowing, underscoring the relevance of sum scores.

Lastly, in the present study associations between HMW and total adiponectin and their ratio on the one hand and DSPN on the other hand did not show considerable differences. It has been suggested by some authors that HMW adiponectin might be biologically more active and of greater relevance in the context of insulin-sensitivity (Hara et al. 2006; Nakashima et al. 2006). Closer correlations have been reported between HMW adiponectin and insulin-resistance and other metabolic abnormalities than between total adiponectin and these variables (Singer et al. 2012). However, others were not able to attribute this advantage to HMW adiponectin (Almeda-Valdes et al. 2010; Singer et al. 2012; Zhu et al. 2010). The present study extends current knowledge indicating that HMW does not appear to be of additional value compared to total adiponectin.

#### Soluble adhesion molecules sICAM-1 and sE-selectin

In the present study adhesion molecules as marker of endothelial dysfunction were neither associated with presence of DSPN nor motor NCV in type 1 or type 2 diabetes. However, increased sICAM-1 levels were found to be associated with higher SNCV in type 2 diabetes but not type 1 diabetes, although only after full adjustment.

Present findings contrast previous findings which on the one hand demonstrated positive associations between adhesion molecules and symptoms and

signs of DSPN and on the other hand demonstrated inverse associations between sICAM-1 levels and peroneal NCV in pooled samples (Doupis et al. 2009; Herder et al. 2013a; Jude et al. 1998). In addition, a positive association was reported between sICAM-1 and the progression of DSPN in a prospective population-based study (Herder et al. 2017). However, associations of adhesion molecules with DSPN and NCV in particular are highly inconsistent in the present study and mostly fail statistical significance. Therefore, results suggest that an implication of these biomarkers in DSPN at least in recently diagnosed diabetic patients is rather unlikely. Nevertheless, as mentioned before, reduced statistical power in the subsample of type 1 diabetes limits interpretation of results. Diverging results might also be a consequence of different chracteristics of investigated study populations. In the present study recently diagnosed diabetic patients were investigated while previous results were conducted in samples of diabetic patients who had received their diagnosis up to 20 years before the study (Doupis et al. 2009; Jude et al. 1998). Beyond that, the present cross-sectional study investigated the association between sICAM-1 and incidence of DSPN but not progression of DSPN. Given that exact pathways underlying the association between subclinical inflammation and alterations in NCV in general are largely unknown, the exact cause and nature of these particular associations remain uncertain.

#### 4.3 Strength and limitations

The present study is characterized by numerous strengths although some limitations became evident, all of which will be discussed briefly in the following paragraph. Associations between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and DSPN were investigated in separate samples of type 1 and type 2 diabetes. This allows comparison of subsamples and detection of differences between these different types of diabetes regarding the association of subclinical inflammation and DSPN. Therefore, the present study design contributes substantially to the extension of current knowledge regarding this matter as studies in both subsamples, but particularly in type 1 diabetes are very limited.

Short duration of disease in the study sample comprises a strength of the present study as it allowed to investigate associations between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and DSPN before the onset of potentially confounding complications usually emerging in the course of diabetes mellitus. In addition to that, extensive adjustment for potential confounding variables comprises a strength of the present study.

Nerve conduction studies were carried out applying gold-standard methods and validated criteria and further differentiating between MNCV versus SNCV allowing to detect differential effects of subclinical inflammation on different nerve modalities. The inclusion of NCV sum scores as a recommended but yet novel measure of DSPN extends current knowledge, providing evidence for their utility as an indicator for DSPN. In addition to that different isoforms of adiponectin were included extending the data conducted in previous studies, however indicating that these different measures of adiponectin do not differ substantially from each other.

Limitations arose mostly as a consequence of the study design applied. First and foremost, the cross-sectional design of the present study does not allow to draw conclusions regarding the temporal association between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and DSPN or NCV or regarding the causality in these associations. In addition, the study did not include a healthy control group, which limits the interpretation of results. For example, the conclusion of an absolute increase of inflammatory agents in type 1 or type 2 diabetes cannot be drawn. However, data of a healthy control group were not available as the present study was conducted in the framework of a larger study that was originally designed as an observational study investigating the natural history of diabetes. Furthermore, a smaller sample size of type 1 diabetic compared to type 2 diabetic participants resulted in reduced statistical power in the subsample of type 1 diabetes increasing the risk of type II errors. Differences in sample size were a consequence of consecutive inclusion of participants into the larger study which was inevitable due to the study design. As the larger study was not designed as a population-based study and given that only recently diagnosed type 1 and type 2 diabetic participants were included, results of the present study are not generalizable to the German population of diabetes patients or to patients with longer disease duration or other forms of diabetes mellitus.

Vitamin B12 deficiency as potential cause of DSPN was not ruled out, as data on this parameter were not available. Lastly, analyses were not adjusted for multiple testing, as immune mediators and outcome variables were not independent of each other and Bonferroni correction which is commonly used for adjustment would have been a too conservative approach. As a consequence, the risk for type I error is increased.

55

#### 4.4 Conclusion and outlook

This is the first study that systematically investigated the association between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation, NCV and DSPN comparing subsamples of type 1 and type 2 diabetes.

The present study indicates that increased serum IL-6 is associated with reduced NCV in type 2 diabetes and suggests that the IL-6 system may contribute to peripheral large nerve fibre dysfunction and DSPN. Furthermore, opposite associations between adiponectin and NCV in type 1 versus type 2 diabetes support the notion that the pathogenesis of DSPN may be diverging in these different types of diabetes: First, in type 2 diabetes, beyond metabolic risk factors, subclinical inflammation may play a more prominent role than in type 1 diabetes. Second, some biomarkers of subclinical inflammation appear to exert differential effects in type 1 compared to type 2 diabetes. Lastly, results of the present study provide some limited evidence that different nerves and different nerve modalities may be differentially prone to inflammation-related nerve damage supporting the notion of sum scores to evaluate an individual's condition.

Further research is needed to investigate the association between subclinical inflammation and DSPN and NCV in type 1 diabetes to overcome limitations due to reduced statistical power of the present study. Beyond this, longitudinal studies are needed to draw causal conclusions and get more insight in potential underlying pathophysiological mechanisms linking subclinical inflammation to DSPN and NCV. Potential differential effects on different nerves and different nerve modality need further exploration. Amplitude as another important measure in NCS indicating DSPN should be considered as an outcome measure in future studies investigating the association between subclinical inflammation and DSPN.

## **5** References

- Air, E. L. & Kissela, B. M., 2007. Diabetes, the metabolic syndrome, and ischemic stroke. *Diabetes Care*, 30(12), pp.3131-40.
- Akira, S., Taga, T. & Kishimoto, T., 1993. Interleukin-6 in biology and medicine. *Advanced Immunology*, 54, pp.1-78.
- Albers, J.W., Herman, W.H., Pop-Busui, R., Feldman, E.L., Martin, C.L., Cleary, P.A., Waberski, B.H.& Lachin, J.M., 2010. Effect of prior intensive insulin treatment during the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT) on peripheral neuropathy in type 1 diabetes during the Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications (EDIC) study. *Diabetes Care* 33(5), pp.1090-96.
- Almeda-Valdes, P., Cuevas-Ramos, D., Mehta, R., Gomez-Perez, F.J., Cruz-Bautista, I., Arellano-Campos, O., Navarrette-Lopez, M. & Aguilar-Salinas, C.A., 2010. Total and high molecular weight adiponectin have similar utility for the identification of insulin resistance. *Cardiovascular Diabetology*, 9, p.26.
- American Diabetes Association, A.D., 2014. Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Care*, 37(1), pp.81-90.
- Apfel, S. C., Asbury, A. K., Bril, V., Burns, T. M., Campbell, J. N., Chalk, C. H., Dyck, P.J., Feldman, E.L., Fields, H.L., Grant, I.A., Griffin, J.W., Klein, C.J., Linblom, U., Litchy, W.J., Low, P.A., Melanson, M., Mendell, J.R., Merren, M.D., O'Brien, P.C., Rendell, M., Rizza, R.A., Service, F.J., Thomas, P.K., Walk, D. Wang, A.K., Wessel, K., Windebank, A.J., Ziegler, D. & Zochodne, D.W., 2001. Positive neuropathic sensory symptoms as endpoints in diabetic neuropathy trials. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 189(1–2), pp.3–5.
- Arezzo, J. C., 1997. The use of electrophysiology for the assessment of diabetic neuropathy. *Neuroscience Research Communications*, 21(1), pp.13–23.
- Arezzo, J. C. & Zotova, E., 2002. Electrophysiologic measures of diabetic neuropathy: Mechanism and meaning. *International Review of Neurobiology*, 50, pp.229–55.
- Asad, A., Hameed, M. A., Khan, U. A., Ahmed, N. & Butt, M.-R. A., 2010. Reliability of the neurological scores for assessment of sensorimotor neuropathy in type 2 diabetics. *JPMA. The Journal of the Pakistan Medical Association*, 60(3), pp.166–70.
- Aso, Y., Okumura, K., Takebayashi, K., Wakabayashi, S. & Inukai, T., 2003. Relationships of plasma Interleukin-18 concentrations to hyperhomocysteinemia and carotid intimalmedia wall thickness in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 26(9), pp.2622– 27.
- Balducci, S., Iacobellis, G., Parisi, L., Di Biase, N., Calandriello, E., Leonetti, F. & Fallucca, F., 2006. Exercise training can modify the natural history of diabetic peripheral neuropathy. *Journal of Diabetes and its Complications*, 20(4), pp.216-23.
- Barnes, T.C., Anderson, M.E. & Moots, R.J., 2011. The many faces of Interleukin-6: The role of IL-6 in inflammation, vasculopathy, and fibrosis in systemic sclerosis. *International Journal of Rheumatology*, 2011, p.721608.

- Berg, A. H., Combs, T. P., Du, X, Brownlee, M. & Scherer, P. E., 2001. The adipocytesecreted protein Acrp30 enhances hepatic insulin action. *Nature Medicine*, 7(8), pp.947–53.
- Biet, F., Locht, C. & Kremer, L., 2002. Immunoregulatory functions of interleukin 18 and its role in defense against bacterial pathogens. *Journal of Molecular Medicine*, 80(3), pp.147-62.
- Blankenberg, S., Luc, G., Ducimetiere, P., Arveiler, D., Ferrieres, J., Amouyel, P., Evans, A., Cambien, F., Tiret, L.; PRIME Study Group, 2004. Interleukin-18 and the risk of coronary heart disease in european men: the prospective epidemiological study of myocardial infarction (prime). ACC Current Journal Review, 13(3), p.25.
- Blüher, M., Unger, R., Rassoul, F., Richter, V. & Paschke, R., 2002. Relation between glycaemic control, hyperinsulinaemia and plasma concentrations of soluble adhesion molecules in patients with impaired glucose tolerance or Type II diabetes. *Diabetologia*, 45(2), pp.210–6.
- Bonetti, S., Trombetta, M., Malerba, G., Boselli, L., Trabetti, E., Muggeo, M., Stoico, V., Negri, C., Pignatti, P.F., Bonora, E. & Bonadonna, R.C., 2011. Variants and haplotypes of TCF7L2 are associated with beta-cell function in patients with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes: the Verona Newly Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes Study (VNDS)1. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 96(2), pp.E389-93.
- Boulton, A. J. M., Gries, F. A. & Jervell, J. A., 1998. Guidelines for the diagnosis and outpatient management of diabetic peripheral neuropathy. *Diabetic Medicine : A Journal of the British Diabetic Association*, 15(6), pp.508–14.
- Boulton, A. J. M., Malik, R. A., Arezzo, J. C. & Sosenko, J. M., 2004a. Diabetic somatic neuropathies. *Diabetes Care*, 27(6), pp.1458–86.
- Boulton, A. J. M., 2004b. The diabetic foot: from art to science. The 18th Camillo Golgi lecture. *Diabetologia*, 47(8), pp.1343–53.
- Boulton, A. J. M., Vinik, A. I., Arezzo, J. C., Bril, V., Feldman, E. L., Freeman, R., Malik, R.A., Maser, R.E., Sosenko, J.M. & Ziegler D., 2005a. Diabetic neuropathies: a statement by the American Diabetes Association. *Diabetes Care*, 28(4), pp.956–62.
- Boulton, A. J. M., Vileikyte, L., Ragnarson-Tennvall, G. & Apelqvist, J., 2005b. The global burden of diabetic foot disease. *The Lancet*, 366(9498), pp.1719–24.
- Cabezas-Cerrato, J., 1998. The prevalence of clinical diabetic polyneuropathy in Spain: a study in primary care and hospital clinic groups. Neuropathy Spanish Study Group of the Spanish Diabetes Society (SDS). *Diabetologia*, 41(11), pp.1263-9.
- Callaghan, B. C, Hur, J. & Feldman, E. L., 2012. Diabetic neuropathy: one disease or two? *Current Opinion in Neurology*, 25(5), pp.536–41.
- Ceriello, A., Falleti, E., Motz, E., Taboga, C., Tonutti, L., Ézsol, Z., Gonano F. & Bartoli, E., 1998. Hyperglycemia-induced circulating ICAM-1 increase in diabetes mellitus: the possible role of oxidative stress. *Hormone and Metabolic Research*, 30(3), pp.146–49.
- Chang, S. A., 2012. Smoking and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes & Metabolism Journal*, 36(6), pp.399–403.

- Charles, M., Soedamah-Muthu, S. S., Tesfaye, S., Fuller, J. H., Arezzo, J. C., Chaturvedi, N. & Witte, D. R., 2010. Low peripheral nerve conduction velocities and amplitudes are strongly related to diabetic microvascular complications in type 1 diabetes. The EURODIAB Prospective Complications Study EURODIAB PROSPECTIVE COMPLICATIONS STUDY INVESTIGATORS. *Diabates Care*, 33(12), pp.2648-53.
- Cho, N. H., Chan, J. C. N., Jang, H. C., Lim, S., Kim, H. L., & Choi, S. H., 2009. Cigarette smoking is an independent risk factor for type 2 diabetes: a four-year community-based prospective study. *Clinical Endocrinology*, 71(5), pp.679–85.
- Conrad, B. & Bischoff, C: Das EMG-Buch. 1. Auflage, Stuttgart-New York: Georg Thieme-Verlag 1998, pp.14-43.
- Crook, M., 2004. Type 2 diabetes mellitus: a disease of the innate immune system? An update. *Diabetic Medicine: A Journal of the British Diabetic Association*, 21(3), pp.203–7.
- Danesh, J., Wheeler, J.G., Hirschfield, G.M., Eda, S., Eiriksdottir, G., Rumley, A., Lowen, G.D.O., Pepys, M.B. & Gudnason, V., 2004. C-reactive protein and other circulating markers of inflammation in the prediciton of coronary heart disease. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 350, pp.1387-97.
- Danesh, J., Kaptoge, S., Mann, A.G., Sarwar, N., Wood, A., Angleman, S.B., Wensley, F., Higgins, J.P.T., Lennon, L., Eiriksdottir, G., Rumley, A., Whincup, P.H., Lowe, G.D.O. & Gudnason, V., 2008. Long-term interleukin-6 levels and subsequent risk of coronary heart disease: Two new prospective studies and a systemic review. *PLoS Medicine*, 5(4), p.e78.
- Davies, M.J., Heller, S., Skinner, T.C. Campbell, M.J., Carey, M.E. Cradock, S., Dallosso, H.M., Daly, H., Doherty, Y., Eaton, S., Fox, C., Oliver, L., Rantell, K., Rayman, G. & Khunti, K., 2008. Effectiveness of the diabetes education and self management for ongoing and newly diagnosed (DESMOND) programme for people with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes: cluster randomised controlled trial. *BMJ*, 336(7642), pp.491-5.
- Dekker, J.M., Funahashi, T., Nijpels, G., Pilz, S., Stehouwer, C.D.A., Snijder, M.B., Bouter, L.M., Matsuzawa, Y., Shimomura, I. & Heiner, R.J., 2008. Prognostic value of adiponectin for cardiovascular disease and mortality. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 93, pp.1489-96.
- Devaraj, S., Glaser, N., Griffen, S., Wang-Polagruto, J., Miguelino, E. & Jialal, I., 2006. Increased monocytic activity and biomarkers of inflammation in patients with type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes*, 55(3), pp.774–9.
- Devaraj, S., Dasu, M. R., & Jialal, I., 2010. Diabetes is a proinflammatory state: a translational perspective. *Expert Review of Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 5(1), pp.19–28.
- Di Iorio, A., Cherubini, A., Volpato, S., Sparvieri, E., Lauretani, F., Franceschi, C., Senin, U., Abate, G., Paganelli, R., Martin, A., Andres-Lacueva, C. & Ferrucci, L., 2006. Markers of inflammation, vitamin E and peripheral nervous system function: the InCHIANTI study. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 27(9), pp.1280–8.
- Donath, M. Y. & Shoelson, S. E., 2011. Type 2 diabetes as an inflammatory disease. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 11(2), pp.98–107.

- Doupis, J., Lyons, T. E., Wu, S., Gnardellis, C., Dinh, T. & Veves, A., 2009. Microvascular reactivity and inflammatory cytokines in painful and painless peripheral diabetic neuropathy. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 94(6), pp.2157–63.
- Dyck, P.J., Karens, J.L., Daube, J., O'Brien, P. & Service, F.J., 1985. Clinical and neuropathological criteria for the diagnosis and staging of diabetic polyneuropathy. *Brain*, 108(4), pp.861-80.
- Dyck, P. J., Karnes, J., O'Brien, P. C. & Swanson, C. J., 1986. Neuropathy Symptom Profile in health, motor neuron disease, diabetic neuropathy, and amyloidosis. *Neurology*, 36(10), pp.1300–8.
- Dyck, P. J., 1988. Detection, characterization, and staging of polyneuropathy: assessed in diabetics. *Muscle & Nerve*, 11(1), pp.21–32.
- Dyck, P. J., Kratz, K. M., Karnes, J. L., Litchy, W. J., Klein, R., Pach, J. M., Wilson, D.M., O'Brien, P.C., Melton, L.J. & Service, F. J., 1993. The prevalence by staged severity of various types of diabetic neuropathy, retinopathy, and nephropathy in a populationbased cohort: the Rochester Diabetic Neuropathy Study. *Neurology*, 43(4), pp.817–24.
- Dyck, P. J., Litchy, W. J., Daube, J. R., Harper, C. M., Dyck, P. J. B., Davies, J. & O'Brien, P. C., 2003. Individual attributes versus composite scores of nerve conduction abnormality: sensitivity, reproducibility, and concordance with impairment. *Muscle & Nerve*, 27(2), pp.202–10.
- Dyck, P.J., Albers, J.W., Andersen, H., Arezzo, J.C., Biessels, G.J., Bril, V., Feldman, E.L., Litchy, W.J., O'Brien, P.C. & Russell, J.W., 2011. Diabetic polyneuropathies: update on research definition, diagnostic criteria and estimation of severity. *Diabetes/Metabolism Research & Review*, 27(7), pp.620-8.
- Engeli, S., Feldpausch, M., Gorzelniak, K., Hartwig, F., Heintze, U., Janke, J., Möhlig, M., Pfeiffer, A.F., Luft, F.C. & Sharma, A. M., 2003. Association between adiponectin and mediators of inflammation in obese women. *Diabetes*, 52(4), pp.942–7.
- England, J. D., Gronseth, G. S., Franklin, G., Miller, R. G., Asbury, A. K., Carter, G. T., Cohen, J.A., Fisher, M.A., Howard, J.F., Kinsella, L.J., Latova, N., Lewis, .A., Low, P.A. & Sumner, A.J., 2005. Distal symmetric polyneuropathy: a definition for clinical research: report of the American Academy of Neurology, the American Association of Electrodiagnostic Medicine, and the American Academy of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. *Neurology*, 64(2), pp.199–207.
- Esposito, K., Nappo, F., Marfella, R., Giugliano, G., Giugliano, F., Ciotola, M., Quagliaro, L., Ceriello, A. & Giugliano, D., 2002. Inflammatory cytokine concentrations are acutely increased by hyperglycemia in humans: role of oxidative stress. *Circulation*, 106(16), pp.2067–72.
- Fantuzzi, G., 2008. Adiponectin and inflammation: consensus and controversy. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 121(2), pp.326–30.
- Fasching, P., Waldhäusl, W. & Wagner, O. F., 1996. Elevated circulating adhesion molecules in NIDDM-potential mediators in diabetic macroangiopathy. *Diabetologia*, 39(10), pp.1242–4.
- Feldman, E. L., 2003. Oxidative stress and diabetic neuropathy: a new understanding of an old problem. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 111(4), pp.431–3.

- Fletcher, B., Gulanick, M. & Lamendola, C., 2002. Risk factors for type 2 diabetes mellitus. *The Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 16(2), pp.17–23.
- Forrest, K. Y., Maser, R. E., Pambianco, G., Becker, D. J. & Orchard, T. J., 1997. Hypertension as a risk factor for diabetic neuropathy: a prospective study. *Diabetes*, 46(4), pp.665–70.
- Frystyk, J., Tarnow, L., Hansen, T. K., Parving, H.-H. & Flyvbjerg, A., 2005. Increased serum adiponectin levels in type 1 diabetic patients with microvascular complications. *Diabetologia*, 48(9), pp.1911–8.
- Gatling W., Guzder R.N., Turnbull J.C., Budd S. & Mullee M.A., 2001. The Poole Diabetes Study: how many cases of type 2 diabetes are diagnosed each year during normal health care in a definde community? *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, 53(2), pp.107-12.
- Gearing, A. & Newman, W., 1993. Circulating adhesion molecules in disease. *Immunology Today*, 14(10), pp.506–12.
- Giacco, F. & Brownlee, M., 2010. Oxidative stress and diabetic complications. *Circulation Research*, 107(9), pp.1058–70.
- Goldberg, R. B., 2009. Cytokine and cytokine-like inflammation markers, endothelial dysfunction, and imbalanced coagulation in development of diabetes and its complications. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinolgy and Metabolism*, 94 (9), pp.3171-82.
- Greenfield, J. R., Samaras, K., Jenkins, A. B., Kelly, P. J., Spector, T. D., Gallimore, R.J., Pepys, M.B. & Campbell, L. V., 2004. Obesity is an important determinant of baseline serum C-reactive protein concentration in monozygotic twins, independent of genetic influences. *Circulation*, 109(24), pp.3022-8.
- Gress, T. W., Nieto, F. J., Shahar, E., Wofford, M. R. & Brancati, F. L., 2000. Hypertension and antihypertensive therapy as risk factors for type 2 diabetes mellitus. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 342(13), pp.905–12.
- Hadjadj, S., Aubert, R., Fumeron, F., Pean, F., Tichet, J., Roussel, R. & Marre, M., 2005. Increased plasma adiponectin concentrations are associated with microangiopathy in type 1 diabetic subjects. *Diabetologia*, 48(6), pp.1088–92.
- Haller, M. J., Atkinson, M. A. & Schatz, D., 2005. Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus: Etiology, Presentation, and Management. *Pediatric Clinics of North America*, 52(6), pp.1553–78.
- Hanley, A.J., Harris, S.B., Mamakeesick, M., Goddwin, K., Fiddler, E., Hegele, R.A., Spencer, J.D., Hous, A.A., Brown, E., Schoales, B., McLaughlin, J.R., Klein, R. & Zinman, B., 2005. Complications of type 2 diabetes among Aboriginal Canadians: prevalence and associated risk factors. *Diabetes Care*, 28(8), pp.2054-7.
- Hara, K., Horikoshi, M., Yamauchi, T., Yago, H., Miyazaki, O., Ebinuma, H., Imai, Y., Nagai, R. & Kadowaki, T., 2006. Measurement of the high-molecular weight form of adiponectin in plasma is useful for the prediction of insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome. *Diabetes Care*, 29(6), pp.1357–62.
- Harms, R. Z., Yarde, D. N., Guinn, Z., Lorenzo-Arteaga, K. M., Corley, K. P., Cabrera, M. S. & Sarvetnick, N. E., 2015. Increased expression of IL-18 in the serum and islets of type 1 diabetics. *Molecular Immunology*, 64(2), pp.306–12.
- Harris, M., Eastman, R. & Cowie, C.,1993. Symptoms of sensory neuropathy in adults with NIDDM in the U.S. population. *Diabetes Care*, 16(11), pp.1446-52.
- Herder, C., Lankisch, M., Ziegler, D., Rathmann, W., Koenig, W., Illig, T., Döring A., Thorand B., Holle R., Giani G., Martin, S. & Meisinger, C., 2009. Subclinical inflammation and diabetic polyneuropathy: MONICA/KORA Survey F3 (Augsburg, Germany). *Diabetes Care*, 32(4), pp.680–2.
- Herder, C., Bongaerts, B. W. C., Rathmann, W., Heier, M., Kowall, B., Koenig, W., Thorand B., Roden M., Meisinger C. & Ziegler, D., 2013a. Association of subclinical inflammation with polyneuropathy in the older population: KORA F4 study. *Diabetes Care*, 36(11), pp.3663–70.
- Herder, C., Carstensen, M., & Ouwens, D. M., 2013b. Anti-inflammatory cytokines and risk of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism*, *15*(s3), 39–50.
- Herder, C., Kannenberg, J., Huth, C., Carstensen-Kirberg, M., Rathmann, W., Koening, W., Heier, M., Püttgen, S., Thorand, B., Peters, A., Roden, M., Meisinger, C. & Ziegler, D., 2017. Proinflammatory cytokines predict the incidence and progression of distal sensorimotor polyneuropathy: KORA F4/FF4 Study. *Diabetes Care*, 40, pp.569-76.
- Hotta, K., Funahashi, T., Arita, Y., Takahashi, M., Matsuda, M., Okamoto, Y., Iwahashi, H., Ouchi, N., Maeda, K., Nishida, M., Kihara, S., Sakai, N., Nakajima, T., Hasegawa, K., Muraguchi, M., Ohmoto, Y., Nakamura, T., Yamashita, S., Hanafusa, T. & Matsuzawa, Y., 2000. Plasma concentrations of a novel, adipose-specific protein, adiponectin, in type 2 diabetic patients. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and Vascular Biology,* 20(6), pp.1595-99.
- Hussain, G., Rizvi, S., Singhal, S., Zubair, M. & Ahmad, J., 2013. Serum levels of TNFalpha in peripheral neuropathy patients and its correlation with nerve conduction velocity in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes & Metabolic Syndrome*, 7(4), pp.238–42.
- International Diabetes Federation. IDF Diabetes Atlas, 7 ed. Brussels, Belgium: International Diabetes Association, 2015.
- Isomaa, B., Almgren, P., Tuomi, T., Forsén, B. R., Lahti, K., Nissén, M., Taskinen, M.R. & Groop, L., 2001. Cardiovascular morbidity and mortality associated with the metabolic syndrome. *Diabetes Care*, 24(4), pp.683-89.
- Jefferis, B., Papacosta, O, Owen, C.G., Wannamethee, S.G., Humphries, S.E., Woodward, M., Lennon, L.T., Thomson, A., Welsh, P., Rumley, A., Lowe, G. & Whinecup, P.H., 2011. Interleukin 18 and coronary heart disease: prospective study and systematic review. *Atherosclerosis*, 217(1), pp.227-33.
- Jude, E. B., Abbott, C. A., Young, M. J., Anderson, S. G., Douglas, J. T. & Boulton, A. J. M., 1998. The potential role of cell adhesion molecules in the pathogenesis of diabetic neuropathy. *Diabetologia*, 41(3), pp.330–6.
- Jung, C.-H., Kim, B.-Y., Mok, J.-O., Kang, S.-K. & Kim, C.-H., 2014. Association between serum adipocytokine levels and microangiopathies in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Journal of Diabetes Investigation*, 5(3), pp.333–9.
- Kallestrup, M., Møller, H. J., Tankisi, H. & Andersen, H., 2015. Soluble CD163 levels are elevated in cerebrospinal fluid and serum in people with Type 2 diabetes mellitus and

are associated with impaired peripheral nerve function. *Diabetic Medicine*, 32(1), pp.54–61.

- Kang, E., Kim, H., Ahn, C., Cha, B., Lim, S., Kim, K. & Lee, H., 2005. Relationship of serum high sensitivity C-reactive protein to metabolic syndrome and microvascular complications in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, 69(2), 151– 9.
- Kato, K., Osawa, H., Ochi, M., Kusunoki, Y., Ebisui, O., Ohno, K., Ohashi, J., Shimizu, I., Fujii, Y., Tanimoto, M. & Makino, H., 2008. Serum total and high molecular weight adiponectin levels are correlated with severity of diabetic retinopathy and nephropathy. *Clinical Endocrinology*, 68(3), pp.442-9.
- Kershaw, E. E. & Flier, J. S., 2004. Adipose Tissue as an Endocrine Organ. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 89(6), pp.2548–56.
- King, G. L., 2008. The role of inflammatory cytokines in diabetes and its complications. *Journal of Periodontology*, 79(8), pp.1527-34.
- Kistorp, C., Faber, J., Galatius, S., Gustafsson, F., Frystyk, J., Flyvbjerg, A. & Hildebrandt, P., 2006. Plasma adiponectin, body mass index, and mortality in patients with chronic herat failure. *Circulation*, 112(12), pp.1756-62.
- Kizer, J. R., Arnold, A. M., Benkeser, D., Ix, J. H., Djousse, L., Zieman, S. J., Barzilay, J.I., Tracy, R.P., Mantzoros, C.S., Siscovick, D.S. & Mukamal, K. J., 2012. Total and highmolecular-weight adiponectin and risk of incident diabetes in older people. *Diabetes Care*, 35(2), pp.415–23.
- Kökoglu, F., Leventoglu, A. & Erdemoglu, A.K., 2009. Dorsal sural nerve conduction study in early diabetic polyneuropathy patients and relationship of adiponectin and high sensitive-C reactive protein levels. *Journal of Neurological Sciences*, 26(4), pp.404–15.
- Kolb, H. & Mandrup-Poulsen, T., 2005. An immune origin of type 2 diabetes? *Diabetologia*, 48(6), pp.1038–50.
- Krakoff, J., Funahashi, T., Stehouwer, C. D. A., Schalkwijk, C. G., Tanaka, S., Matsuzawa, Y., Kobes S., Tataranni P.A., Hanson R.L., Knowler W.C. & Lindsay, R. S., 2003. Inflammatory markers, adiponectin, and risk of type 2 diabetes in the pima indian. *Diabetes Care*, 26(6), pp.1745–51.
- Krzyzanowska, K., Aso, Y., Mittermayer, F., Inukai, T, Brix, J. & Schernthaner, G., 2009. High-molecular-weight adiponectin does not predict cardiovascular events in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Translational Research*, 153(4), pp.199-203.
- Laughlin, G.A., Barrett-Connor, E., May, S. & Langenberg, C., 2007. Association of adiponectin with coronary heart disease and mortality: the Rancho Bernardo study. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 165(2), pp.164-74.
- Lieb, D. C., Parson, H. K., Mamikunian, G. & Vinik, A. I., 2012. Cardiac autonomic imbalance in newly diagnosed and established diabetes is associated with markers of adipose tissue inflammation. *Experimental Diabetes Research*, 2012, p.878760.
- Lin, Y., Rajala, M. W., Berger, J. P., Moller, D. E., Barzilai, N. & Scherer, P. E., 2001. Hyperglycemia-induced production of acute phase reactants in adipose tissue. *Journal* of *Biological Chemistry*, 276(45), pp.42077–83.

- Ljubic, S., Jazbec, A., Tomic, M., Pilijac, A., Erzen, D.J., Novak, B., Kastelan, S., Lovrencic, M.V. & Brkljacic, N., 2015. Inverse levels of adiponectin in type 1 and type 2 diabetes are in accordance with the state of albuminuria. *International Journal of Endocrinology*, 2015(4), p.372796.
- Luis-Rodríguez, D., Martínez-Castelao, A., Górriz, J. L., De-Álvaro, F. & Navarro-González, J. F., 2012. Pathophysiological role and therapeutic implications of inflammation in diabetic nephropathy. *World Journal of Diabetes*, 3(1), pp.7–18.
- Maahs, D. M., West, N. A., Lawrence, J. M. & Mayer-Davis, E. J., 2010. Epidemiology of type 1 diabetes. *Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinics of North America*, 39(3), pp.481–97.
- Maeda, N., Shimomura, I., Kishida, K., Nishizawa, H., Matsuda, M., Nagaretani, H., Furuyama, N., Kondo, H., Takahashi, M., Arita, Y., Komuro, R., Ouchi, N., Kihara, S., Tochino, Y., Okutomi, K., Horie, M., Takeda, S., Aoyama, T., Funahashi, T. & Matsuzawa, Y., 2002. Diet-induced insulin resistance in mice lacking adiponectin/ACRP30. *Nature Medicine*, 8(7), pp.731–7.
- Magrinelli, F., Briani, C., Romano, M., Ruggero, S., Toffanin, E., Triolo, G., Peter, G.C., Praitano, M., Lauriola, M.F., Zanetta, G. & Tamburin, S., 2015. The Association between serum cytokines and damage to large and small nerve fibers in diabetic peripheral neuropathy. *Journal of Diabetes Research*, 2015, p.547834.
- Malik, R. A., Tesfaye, S., Thompson, S. D., Veves, A., Sharma, A. K., Boulton, A. J. M. & Ward, J. D., 1993. Endoneurial localisation of microvascular damage in human diabetic neuropathy. *Diabetologia*, 36(5), pp.454–9.
- Mariño, E. & Cardier, J. E, 2003. Differential effect of IL-18 on endothelial cell apoptosis mediated by TNF-α and Fas (CD95). *Cytokine*, 22(5), pp.142–8.
- Martina, I.S., van Koningsveld, R., Schmitz, P.I., van der Meché, F.G. & van Doorn, P.A., 1998. Measuring vibration threshold with a graduated tuning fork in normal aging and in patients with polyneuropathy. European Inflammatory Neuropathy Cause and Treatment (INCAT) group. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 65(5), pp.743-7.
- Mather, K. J., Funahashi, T., Matsuzawa, Y., Edelstein, S., Bray, G. A., Kahn, S. E., Crandall, J., Marcovina, S. & Goldstein, R., 2008. Adiponectin, change in adiponectin, and progression to diabetes in the Diabetes Prevention Program. *Diabetes*, 57(4), pp.980–6.
- Matsuda, M., Kawasaki, F., Inoue, H., Kanda, Y., Harada, Y., Saito, M., Eto, M., Matsuki, M. & Kaku, K., 2004. Possible contribution of adipocytokines on diabetic neuropathy. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, 66(1), pp.121–3.
- Menon, V., Li, J., Wang, X., Greene, T., Balakrishnan, V., Madero, M., Pereira, A.A., Beck, G.J., Kusek, J.W., Collins, A.J., Levey, A.S. & Sarnak, M.J., 2006. Adiponectin and mortality in patients with chronic kidney disease. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, 17(9), pp.2599-606.
- Nakashima, R., Kamei, N., Yamane, K., Nakanishi, S., Nakashima, A. & Kohno, N., 2006. Decreased total and high molecular weight adiponectin are independent risk factors for the development of type 2 diabetes in japanese-americans. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 91(10), pp.3873-7.

- Navarro, J. F. & Mora, C., 2005. Role of inflammation in diabetic complications. *Nephrology, Dialysis, Transplantation : Official Publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association - European Renal Association*, 20(12), pp.2601–4.
- Navarro, J. F. & Mora, C., 2006. Diabetes, inflammation, proinflammatory cytokines, and diabetic nephropathy. *The Scientific World JOURNAL*, 6, pp.908–17.
- Nicoletti, F., Conget, I., Di Marco, R., Speciale, A. M., Morìnigo, R., Bendtzen, K. & Gomis, R., 2001. Serum levels of the interferon-gamma-inducing cytokine interleukin-18 are increased in individuals at high risk of developing type I diabetes. *Diabetologia*, 44(3), pp.309–11.
- Nigro, E., Scudiero, O., Monaco, M. L., Palmieri, A., Mazzarella, G., Costagliola, C., Bianco, A. & Daniele, A., 2014. New insight into adiponectin role in obesity and obesity-related diseases. *BioMed Research International*, 2014, p658913.
- Oh, S.J.: Clinical electromyography nerve conduction studies. 3<sup>rd</sup> Edition, Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins 1993, pp.15-65
- Ouchi, N. & Walsh, K., 2007. Adiponectin as an anti-inflammatory factor. *Clinica Chimica Acta*, 380(1-2), pp.24-30.
- Pan, X. R., Li, G. W., Hu, Y. H., Wang, J. X., Yang, W. Y., An, Z. X., Hu Z.X., Lin J., Xiao J.Z., Cao, H.B., Liu, P.A., Jiang, X.G., Wang, J.P., Zheng, H., Bennett, P.H. & Howard, B. V., 1997. Effects of diet and exercise in preventing NIDDM in people with impaired glucose tolerance. The Da Qing IGT and Diabetes Study. *Diabetes Care*, 20(4), pp.537–44.
- Partanen, J., Niskanen, L., Lehtinen, J., Mervaala, E., Siitonen, O. & Uusitupa, M., 1995. Natural history of peripheral neuropathy in patients with non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 333(2), pp.89–94.
- Pasnoor, M., Dimachkie, M., Kluding, P. & Barohn, R., 2013. Diabetic neuropathy part 1: overview and symmetric phenotypes. *Neurologic Clinics*, 31(2), pp.425–45.
- Pereira, R. I., Snell-Bergeon, J. K., Erickson, C., Schauer, I. E., Bergman, B. C., Rewers, M. & Maahs, D. M., 2012. Adiponectin dysregulation and insulin resistance in type 1 diabetes. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 97(4), pp.E642–7.
- Peschel, T. & Niebauer, J., 2003. Role of pro-atherogenic adhesion molecules and inflammatory cytokines in patients with coronary artery disease and diabetes mellitus type 2. *Cytometry. Part B, Clinical cytometry*, 53 (1), pp.78-85.
- Pham, M. N., Hawa, M. I., Roden, M., Schernthaner, G., Pozzilli, P., Buzzetti, R., Scherbaum,W.A., Seissler, J., Hunter, S., Leslie, R.D., Kolb, H., Schloot, N.C., Action LADA Study Group, 2012. Increased serum concentrations of adhesion molecules but not of chemokines in patients with type 2 diabetes compared with patients with type 1 diabetes and latent autoimmune diabetes in adult age: action LADA 5. *Diabetic Medicine : A Journal of the British Diabetic Association*, 29(4), pp.470–8.
- Pickup, J. C. & Crook, M. A., 1998. Is type II diabetes mellitus a disease of the innate immune system? *Diabetologia*, 41(10), pp.1241–8.
- Pischon, T., Girman, C.J., Hotamisligil, G.S., Rifai, N, Hu, F.B. & Rimm, E,B., 2004. Plasma adiponectin levels and risk of myocardial infarction in men. *JAMA*, 291(14), pp.1730-7.

- Poeck K. & Hacke W.: *Neurologie*. 10. Auflage, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York: Springerverlag 2001, pp.633-57.
- Pop-Busui, R., Boulton, A. J. M., Feldman, E. L., Bril, V., Freeman, R., Malik, R. A., Sosenko, J.M. & Ziegler, D., 2017. Diabetic neuropathy: A position statement by the American Diabetes Association. *Diabetes Care*, 40(1), pp.136–54.
- Pradeepa, R., Surendar, J., Indulekha, K., Chella, S., Anjana, R. M. & Mohan, V., 2015. Association of serum adiponectin with diabetic microvascular complications among south Indian type 2 diabetic subjects - (CURES-133). *Clinical Biochemistry*, 48(1–2), pp.33–8.
- Pradhan, A. D., Manson, J. E., Rifai, N., Buring, J. E. & Ridker, P. M., 2001. C-reactive protein, interleukin 6, and risk of developing type 2 diabetes mellitus. *JAMA*, 286(3), pp.327–34.
- Qi, Q., Liang, L., Doria, A., Hu, F. B. & Qi, L., 2012. Genetic predisposition to dyslipidemia and type 2 diabetes risk in two prospective cohorts. *Diabetes*, 61(3), pp.745–52.
- Rathur, H. M. & Boulton, A. J. M., 2007. The neuropathic diabetic foot. *Nature Clinical Practice, Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 3(1), pp.14–25.
- Russell, J. W., Karnes, J. L. & Dyck, P. J., 1996. Sural nerve myelinated fiber density differences associated with meaningful changes in clinical and electrophysiologic measurements. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 135(2), pp.114–7.
- Ryba-Stanisławowska, M., Rybarczyk-Kapturska, K., Myśliwiec, M. & Myśliwska, J., 2014. Elevated levels of serum IL-12 and IL-18 are associated with lower frequencies of CD4+CD25highFOXP3+ regulatory T cells in young patients with type 1 diabetes. *Inflammation*, 37(5), pp.1513–20.
- Sacks, D., 2012. Measurement of haemoglobin A1c: a new twist on the path to harmony. *Diabetes Care*, 35(12), pp.2674-80.
- Sands, M.L., Shetterly, S.M., Franklin, G.M. & Hamman, R.F., 1997. Incidence of distal symmetric (sensory) neuropathy in NIDDM: The San Luis Valley Diabetes Study. *Diabetes Care*, 20(3), pp.322-9.
- Sandireddy, R., Yerra, V. G., Areti, A., Komirishetty, P. & Kumar, A., 2014. Neuroinflammation and oxidative stress in diabetic neuropathy: futuristic strategies based on these targets. *International Journal of Endocrinology*, 2014, p.674987.
- Saraheimo, M., Forsblom, C., Fagerudd, J., Teppo, A.-M., Pettersson-Fernholm, K., Frystyk, J., Flyvbjerg, A., Groop, P.H., FinnDiane study group, 2005. Serum adiponectin is increased in type 1 diabetic patients with nephropathy. *Diabetes Care*, 28(6), pp.1410– 4.
- Satter, N., Wannamethee, G., Sarwar, N., Tchernova, J., Cherry, L., Wallace, A.M., Danesh, J. & Whincup, P.H., 2006. Adiponectin and coronary heart disease: prospective study and meta-analysis. *Circulation*, 114(7), pp.623-9.
- Sattar, N., 2011. Adiponectin and raised mortality in type 1 diabetes: any credible explanatory mechanisms?. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 270(4), pp.339–42.

- Schulze, M.B., Shai, I., Rimm, E.B., Rifai, N. & Hu, F.B., 2005. Adiponectin and future coronary herat disease events among men with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes*, 54(2), pp.534-9.
- Shaw, J. E., Hodge, A. M., de Courten, M., Dowse, G. K., Gareeboo, H., Tuomilehto, J., Alberti, K.G. & Zimmet, P.Z., 1998. Diabetic neuropathy in Mauritius: prevalence and risk factors. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, 42(2), pp.131–9.
- Singer, J.R., Palmas, W., Teresi, J., Weinstock, R., Shea, S. & Luchsinger, J.A., 2012. Adiponectin and all-cause mortality in elderly people with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 35(9), pp.1858-63.
- Singh, N., Armstrong, D. G. & Lipsky, B. A., 2005. Preventing foot ulcers in patients with diabetes. *JAMA*, 293(2), pp.217–28.
- Stöhr, M. & Pfister, R.: Klinische Elektromyographie und Neurographie-Lehrbuch und Atlas. 3. Auflage, Stuttgart-Berlin-Köln: Kohlhammer 1993, pp.134-43.
- Stuyt, R. J. L., Netea, M. G., Geijtenbeek, T. B. H., Kullberg, B. J., Dinarello, C. A. & van der Meer, J. W. M., 2003. Selective regulation of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 expression by interleukin-18 and interleukin-12 on human monocytes. *Immunology*, 110(3), pp.329–34.
- Szendroedi, J., Saxena, A., Weber, K.S., Strassburger, K., Herder, C., Burkart, V, Nowotny, B, Icks, A., Kuss, O., Ziegler, D., Al-Hasani, H., Müssig, K., Roden, M., and the GDS Group, 2016. Cohort profile: the German Diabates Study (GDS). *Cardiovascular Diabetology*, 15, p.59.
- Tanaka, T., Narazaki, M. & Kishimoto, T., 2014. IL-6 in inflammation, immunity, and disease. *Cold Spring Harbour Perspectives in Biology*, 6(10), p.a016295.
- Tapp, R. J., Shaw, J. E., de Courten, M. P., Dunstan, D. W., Welborn, T. A., Zimmet, P. Z., Diab Study Group, 2003. Foot complications in Type 2 diabetes: an Australian population-based study. *Diabetic Medicine: A Journal of the British Diabetic Association*, 20(2), pp.105–13.
- Tesfaye, S., Malik, R. & Ward, J. D., 1994. Vascular factors in diabetic neuropathy. *Diabetologia*, 37(9), pp.847–54.
- Tesfaye, S., Stevens, L. K., Stephenson, J. M., Fuller, J. H., Plater, M., Ionescu-Tirgoviste, C., Nuber A., Pozza G. & Ward J.D., 1996. Prevalence of diabetic peripheral neuropathy and its relation to glycaemic control and potential risk factors: the EURODIAB IDDM Complications Study. *Diabetologia*, 39(11), pp.1377–84.
- Tesfaye, S., Chaturvedi, N., Eaton, S.E., Ward, J.D., Manes, C., Ionescu-Tirgoviste, C., Witte, D.R., Fuller, J.H., EURODIAB Prospective Complications Study Group, 2005. Vascilar risk factors and diabetic neuropathy. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 352(4), pp.341-50.
- Tesfaye, S., Boulton, A. J. M., Dyck, P. J., Freeman, R., Horowitz, M., Kempler, P., Lauria, G., Malik, R.A., Spallone, V., Bernardi, L. & Valensi, P., 2010. Diabetic neuropathies: update on definitions, diagnostic criteria, estimation of severity, and treatments. *Diabetes Care*, 33(10), pp.2285–93.
- Thorand, B., Löwel, H., Schneider, A., Kolb, H., Meisinger, C., Fröhlich, M. & Koenig, W., 2003. C-reactive protein as a predictor for incident diabetes mellitus among middle-

aged men: results from the MONICA Augsburg cohort study, 1984-1998. Archives of Internal Medicine, 163(1), pp.93–9.

- Thorand, B., Kolb, H., Baumert, J., Koenig, W., Chambless, L., Meisinger, C., Illig, T., Martin, S. & Herder, C., 2005. Elevated levels of interleukin-18 predict the development of type 2 diabetes: results from the MONICA/KORA Augsburg Study, 1984-2002. *Diabetes*, 54(10), pp.2932–8.
- Todnem, K., Knudsen, G., Riise, T., Nyland, H. & Aarli, H., 1989. The non-linear relationship between nerve conduction velocity and skin temperature. *Journal of neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry,* 52(4), pp.497-501.
- Tuomilehto, J., Lindström, J., Eriksson, J. G., Valle, T. T., Hämäläinen, H., Ilanne-Parikka, P., Keinänen-Kiukaanniemi, S., Laakso, M., Louheranta, A., Rastas, M., Salminen, V., Aunola, S., Cepaitis, Z., Moltchanov, V., Hakumäki, M., Mannelin, M., Martikkala, V., Sundvall, J. & Uusitupa, M., 2001. Prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus by changes in lifestyle among subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 344(18), pp.1343–50.
- Van Acker K., Bouhassira D., Bacquer D., Weiss S., Matthys K., Raemen H., Mathieu C. & Colin I.M., 2009. Prevalence and impact on quality of life of peripheral neuropathy with or without neuropathic pain in type 1 and type 2 diabetic patients attending hospital outpatients clinics. *Diabetes and Metabolism*, 35(3), pp.206-13.
- Vinik, A., Nevoret; ML, Casellini, C. & Parson, H., 2013. Diabetic neuropathy. Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinics of North America, 42(4), pp.747–87.
- Walters, D. P., Gatling, W., Mullee, M. A. & Hill, R. D., 1992. The prevalence of diabetic distal sensory neuropathy in an English community. *Diabetic Medicine : A Journal of the British Diabetic Association*, 9(4), pp.349–53.
- Weber, K. S., Nowotny, B., Strassburger, K., Pacini, G., Müssig, K., Szendroedi, J., Herder, C., Roden, M., GDS Group, 2015. The role of markers of low-grade inflammation for the early time course of glycemic control, glucose disappearance rate, and β-Cell function in recently diagnosed type 1 and type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 38(9), pp.1758–67.
- Weisman, A., Bril, V., Ngo, M., Lovblom, L. E., Halpern, E. M., Orszag, A. & Perkins, B.A., 2013. Identification and prediction of diabetic sensorimotor polyneuropathy using individual and simple combinations of nerve conduction study parameters. *PLoS ONE*, 8(3), p.e58783.
- Weycker, D., Nichols, G. A., O'Keeffe-Rosetti, M., Edelsberg, J., Vincze, G., Khan, Z. M. & Oster, G., 2009. Excess risk of diabetes in persons with hypertension. *Journal of Diabetes and its Complications*, 23(5), pp.330–6.
- Wu, Z.-J., Cheng, Y.-J., Gu, W.-J. & Aung, L. H. H., 2014. Adiponectin is associated with increased mortality in patients with already established cardiovascular disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Metabolism: Clinical and Experimental*, 63(9), pp.1157–66.
- Yamamoto, Y., Hirose, H., Saito, I., Tomita, M., Taniyama, M., Matsubara, K., Okazaki, Y., Ishii, T., Nishikai, K. & Saruta, T., 2002. Correlation of the adipocyte-derived protein adiponectin with insulin resistance index and serum high-density lipoprotein-

cholesterol, independent of body mass index, in the Japanese population. *Clinical Science (London, England : 1979)*, 103(2), pp.137–42.

- Yamauchi, T., Kamon, J., Waki, H., Terauchi, Y., Kubota, N., Hara, K., Mori, Y., Die, T., Murakami, K., Tsuboyama-Kasaoka, N., Ezaki, O., Akanuma, Y., Gavrilova, O., Vinson, C., Reitman, M.L., Kagechika, H., Shudo, K., Yoda, M., Nakano, Y., Tobe, K., Nagai, R., Kimura, S:, Tomita, M. & Kadowaki, T., 2001. The fat-derived hormone adiponectin reverses insulin resistance associated with both lipoatrophy and obesity. *Nature Medicine*, 7(8), pp.941–6.
- Young, M. J., Boulton, A. J., MacLeod, A. F., Williams, D. R. & Sonksen, P. H., 1993. A multicentre study of the prevalence of diabetic peripheral neuropathy in the United Kingdom hospital clinic population. *Diabetologia*, 36(2), pp.150–4.
- Zhu N., Pankow J.S., Ballantyne, C.M., Couper, D., Hoogeveen, R.C., Pereira, M., Duncan, B.B. & Schmidt, M.I., 2010. High-molecular-weight adiponectin and the risk of type 2 diabetes in the ARIC study. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 95(11), pp.5097-5104.
- Ziegler, D., Wiefels, K., Dannehl, K., Gries, F.A., the Düsseldorf Study Group, 1988. Effects of one year of near-normoglycaemia on peripheral nerve function in type 1 (insulindependent) diabetic patients. *Klinische Wochenschrift*, 66(9), pp.388-96.
- Ziegler, D., Rathmann, W., Dickhaus, T., Meisinger, C., Mielck, A., KORA Study Group, 2008. Prevalence of polyneuropathy in pre-diabetes and diabetes is associated with abdominal obesity and macroangiopathy: the MONICA/KORA Augsburg Surveys S2 and S3. *Diabetes Care*, 31(3), pp.464–9.
- Zubair, M., Malik, A. & Ahmad, J., 2012. Plasma adiponectin, IL-6, hsCRP, and TNF-α levels in subject with diabetic foot and their correlation with clinical variables in a North Indian tertiary care hospital. *Indian Journal of Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 16(5), pp.769–76.

## 6 Appendix

Table A-1: Neuropath	Symptom	Score	(NSS)
Table / Thirdenepading	, •,	000.0	(

	Yes (points)*	No (points)	
Symptomatology: For	ot/lower leg		
Burning sensation	2	0	
Numbness	2	0	
Paraesthesia	2	0	Total points:
Feeling of weakness	1	0	
(fatigue, exhaustion)			
Cramps	1	0	
Pain	1	0	Total points:
Location	-		
Feet	2	0	
Lower leg	1	0	
Elsewhere	0	0	Total points:
Exacerbation			
Present at night	2	0	
Present during day	1	0	
and night			
Only present during	0	0	
the day			
Patient is awakened	Add 1		
from sleep by the			<b>-</b> ( ) ( ) (
symptoms			Total points:
Symptoms improvement		-	
Walking	2	0	
Standing	1	0	
Sitting or lying down	0	0	Total points:

Scoring of the NSS: 3-4 = mild symptoms; 5-6 = moderate symptoms; 7-10 = severe neuropathic symptoms. \*In each point column, the maximum score can be given only once.

Table A-2: Neuropathy Disability Score (NDS)

	Right side	Left side			
Ankle reflex					
Normal	0	0			
Diminished	1	1			
Absent	2	2			
Vibration perception					
Normal	0	0			
Diminished/absent	1	1			
Pain perception					
Normal	0	0			
Diminished/absent	1	1			
Temperature perception					
normal	0	0			
Diminished/absent	1	1			

Scoring of the NDS: 3-5 = mild neuropathic deficits; 6-8 = moderate neuropathic deficits; 9-10 = severe neuropathic deficits.

5	_
7	
τ	5
C	5
(	D
2	5
C	2
₹	7
1	S

IL-18 (pg/mL)	IL-6 (pg/mL)	hsCRP (mg/L)	Triglycerides (mmol/l)	Total cholesterol (mmol/l)	HbA1c (Percent and mmol/mol)	Variables
Serum from whole blood with clot activator	Serum from whole blood with clot activator	Serum from whole blood with clot activator	Serum from whole blood with clot activator	Serum from whole blood with clot activator	EDTA whole blood	Biospecimen Storage Storage Freeze-thaw Assay Intra- Inter- Measurement Commer type duration temperature cycles assay CV assay CV range (for until before (%) (%) undiluted samples analysis analysis
3.25-6.5 years	3.25-6.5 years	3.25-6.5 years	0-6h	0-6h	0-6h	Storage duration until analysis
80°C	-80°C	-80°C	RT	먹	RT	Storage temperature
د	د	0	n/a	n/a	n/a	Freeze-thaw cycles before analysis
IL-18 ELISA (MBL, Nagoya, Japan)	Quantikine HS ELISA (R&D Systems, Wiesbaden, Germany)	Roche/Hitachi c 311 analyzer (Basel, Switzerland)	Enzymatic assay on Hitachi 912 or Modular P system (Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany)	Enzymatic assay on Hitachi 912 or Modular P system (both Rocher Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany)	Variant-II (Bio-rad, Munich, Germany)	Assay
ත .ග	6.O	1.9	<1/1.1	<1/1.9	7	Intra- assay CV (%)
12.1	12.2	3.9	2.2/4.2	2.2/3.5	4	Inter- assay CV (%)
10.24-1000 pg/ml	0.156-10 pg/ml	n/a as analyser has automated dilution system at certain range	n/a as analyser has automated dilution system at certain range	n/a as analyser has automated dilution system at certain range	n/a as analyser has automated dilution system at certain range	Measurement range (for undiluted samples
All samples were measured at 1:5 dilution and yielded values within the measurement range	All samples were measured undiluted and yielded values within the measurement range					Comments

Appendix

sICAM- (ng/mL)	sE-selectin (ng/mL)	HMW adiponectin (ng/mL)	Total adiponectin (ng/mL)
Serum from whole blood with clot activator	Serum from whole blood with clot activator	Serum from whole blood with clot activator	Serum from whole blood with clot activator
3.25-6.5 years	3.25-6.5 years	0.5-6.5 years	0.5-6.5 years
-80°C	-80°C	-80°C	-80°C
<u>د</u>	حـ	د.	<del>د</del>
Quantikine HS ELISA (R&D Systems, Wiesbaden, Germany)	Quantikine HS ELISA (R&D Systems, Wiesbaden, Germany)	Adiponectin (Multimeric) ELISA, (ALPCO Diagnostics, Salem, NH, USA)	Adiponectin (Multimeric) ELISA, (ALPCO Diagnostics, Salem, NH, USA)
2.0	ယ မ	3.56	2.34
ယ ယ	5. O	10.82	7.88
1.56-50 ng/ml	0.125-8 ng/ml	Range of standards 0.075- 4.8 ng/ml	Range of standards 0.075- 4.8 ng/ml
All samples were measured at 1:20 dilution and yielded values within the measurement range	All samples were measured at 1:10 dilution and yielded values above the lower limit of detection. Samples exceeding the upper limit of detection were measured at 1:20 dilution.	All samples were pretreated and measured according to the manufacturer's instructions (final dilution factor 1:5151)	All samples were pretreated and measured according to the manufacturer's instructions (final dilution factor 1:5151)

n/a, not applicable; RT, room temperature (20-25°C); CV, coefficient of variation; HMW, high-molecular-weight adiponectin; hsCRP, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein; IL, interleukin; sE-selectin, solouble E-selectin; sICAM, solouble intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (adapted from Weber et al. 2015).

	5	
_	)	
2	5	
1	)	
	5	
2	)	
	2	
	Ĭ	opndix

Variable	hsCRP	IL-6	IL-18	Total adiponectin	HMW adiponectin	HMW/total adiponectin	sE-selectin	sICAM-1
Sex (female/ male)	0.090	0.068	-0.082	0.436***	0.476***	0.464***	-0.219**	0.019
Age (years)	-0.009	0.194*	0.147	-0.090	-0.081	-0.054	-0.007	0.143
Body mass index (kg/m²)	0.372***	0.320***	0.296***	-0.281***	-0.251***	-0.162*	0.344***	0.253***
Waist circumference (cm)	0.363***	0.368***	0.296****	-0.396***	-0.374***	-0.278***	0.335***	0.229**
Height (cm)	0.110	-0.034	0.019	-0.252***	-0.303***	-0.336***	0.147	-0.067
Time since diagnosis of diabetes (days)	-0.139	-0.113	-0.050	0.193*	0.187*	0.146	-0.097	-0.033
HbA <sub>1c</sub> (%)	0.197*	0.237**	0.161*	0.004	-0.013	-0.038	0.184*	0.110
Total cholesterol (mmol/l)	0.156	-0.029	0.119	0.002	0.005	0.010	-0.025	0.138
Fasting triglycerides (mmol/l)	0.298***	0.233**	0.296***	-0.412***	-0.405***	-0.328***	0.271***	0.246**
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	0.069	0.055	0.073	-0.204**	-0.189*	-0.135	0.138	0.147
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	0.217*	0.178*	0.117	-0.147	-0.085	0.028	0.118	0.095
Hypertension <sup>†</sup>	0.214**	0.105 0.411***	0.000	-0.092	-0.058	0.006	0.144 0 230**	0.178*
	0.260	0.411	0.105	-0.000	-0.010	0.039	0.230	U.400

Non-steroidal anti- inflammatory drugs	Antihypertensive 0 medication	Lipid-lowering medication	History of myocardial infarction and/or stroke	Physically inactive <sup>††</sup>
0.063	0.233**	0.064	0.032	0.140
0.062	0.146	0.051	0.079	0.120
0.001	0.063	0.067	0.054	0.107
-0.013	-0.173*	-0.012	0.134	-0.097
0.004	-0.170*	-0.014	0.115	-0.048
0.032	-0.138	-0.016	0.065	0.039
0.106	0.082	-0.069	-0.099	0.009
0.106	0.101	0.092	0.179*	0.125

Correlations are assessed by Pearson correlation coefficients r. Concentration of immune markers were log-transformed. \*p<0.05; \*\*p<0.01; \*\*\*p<0.001 Hypertension, physical inactivity, history of myocardial infarction and/or stroke, and medication use were dichotomized. <sup>+</sup>Hypertension is defined as blood pressure ≥ 140/90 mmHg or use of antihypertensive medication. <sup>+†</sup>Physical inactivity is defined as absence of regular physical training at the time of the examination. HMW, high-molecular-weight adiponectin; HMW/total adiponectin, HMW-to-totaladiponectin-ratio.

	1	$\geq$
	~	_
	C	2
1	τ	5
	(	D
	Ξ	Σ
	$\subseteq$	2
	7	7
	1	<u></u>

actors in patients with type 2 diabetes	type z diab	eles						
Variable	hsCRP	IL-6	IL-18	Total adiponectin	HMW adiponectin	HMW/total adiponectin	sE- selectin	sICAM-1
Sex (% male)	0.211***	0.097	-0.030	0.352***	0.356***	0.308***	0.020	0.134*
Age (years)	-0.089	0.066	0.016	0.244***	0.223***	0.160**	-0.033	-0.057
Body mass index (kg/m²)	0.465***	0.361***	0.223***	-0.085	-0.109*	-0.127*	0.295***	0.174***
Waist circumference (cm)	0.395***	0.352***	0.248***	-0.178***	-0.200***	-0.202***	0.260***	0.154**
Height (cm)	-0.206***	-0.103	-0.032	-0.300***	-0.312***	-0.282***	-0.083	-0.131*
Time since diagnosis of diabetes (days)	-0.034	-0.105	-0.029	0.057	0.082	0.107*	0.023	-0.027
HbA <sub>1c</sub> (%)	0.144**	0.173***	0.152**	-0.095	-0.111*	-0.117*	0.174***	0.172***
Total cholesterol (mmol/l)	0.105	0.021	0.013	0.152**	0.130**	0.080	0.132*	0.076
Fasting triglycerides (mmol/l)	0.142**	0.074	0.193***	-0.301***	-0.303***	-0.261***	0.230***	0.179***
Systolic blood pressure	0.039	0.066	0.034	0.018	0.010	-0.003	0.189***	0.002

Table A-5: Pearson correlations between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation and demographic, anthropometric and metabolic risk factors in patients with type 2 diabetes

75

Non-steroidal anti- inflammatory drugs	Antihypertensiv e medication	Lipid-lowering medication	History of myocardial infarction and/or stroke	Physically inactive <sup>††</sup>	Current smoking	Hypertension <sup>†</sup>	Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	(mmHg)
0.114*	-0.003	-0.135*	0.002	0.158**	0.104	0.115*	0.162**	
0.093	0.006	-0.029	0.019	0.200***	0.199***	0.047	0.089	
0.039	-0.001	0.057	-0.068	0.123*	0.025	0.030	0.083	
0.107*	-0.047	0.014	-0.007	-0.010	-0.039	-0.032	-0.016	
0.073	-0.052	0.029	0.023	0.010	-0.011	-0.037	-0.023	
0.015	-0.053	0.047	0.063	0.038	0.031	-0.040	-0.029	
0.012	0.042	-0.042	-0.019	0.093	0.080	0.176***	0.186***	
0.072	0.003	0.027	-0.018	0.171***	0.340***	0.059	0.049	

Correlations are assessed by Pearson correlation coefficients r. Concentration of immune markers were log-transformed. \*p<0.05; \*\*p<0.01; \*\*\*p<0.001Hypertension, physical inactivity history of myocardial infarction and/or stroke, and medication use were dichotomized. <sup>†</sup>Hypertension is defined as blood pressure ≥ 140/90 mmHg or use of antihypertensive medication. <sup>††</sup>Physical inactivity is defined as absence of regular physical training at the time of the examination. HMW, high-molecular-weight adiponectin; HMW/total adiponectin, HMW-to-totaladiponectin-ratio.

Appendix

Variable	hsCRP	IL-6	IL-18	Total adiponectin	HMW adiponectin	HMW/total adiponectin sE-selectin sICAM-1	sE-selectin	sICAM-1
hsCRP	-	0.50*** 0.33***	0.33***	-0.07	-0.04	-0.01	0.17**	0.33***
IL-6	0.58***		0.28**	-0.14	-0.12	-0.07	0.30***	0.38***
IL-18	0.16**	0.19***	-	-0.15	-0.15	-0.16*	0.30***	0.32***
Total adiponectin	-0.08	-0.08	-0.11*	<u>ـ</u>	0.96***	0.73***	-0.22**	-0.07
HMW adiponectin	-0.07	-0.07	-0.13*	0.96***	<b>د</b>	0.90***	-0.23**	-0.04
HMW/total adiponectin	-0.04	-0.04	-0.15*	0.76***	0.91***	-	-0.22*	0.02
sE-selectin	0.24***	0.27***	0.27***	-0.09	-0.10	-0.10	-	0.51***
sICAM-1	0.38***	0.37*** 0.26***	0.26***	-0.03	-0.03	-0.02	0.47***	-

Table A-6: Pearson correlations between biomarkers of subclinical inflammation in patients with type 1 (grev) and type 2 (white) diabetes

Correlations are assessed by Pearson correlation coefficients r. Concentration of immune mediators of subclinical inflammation were log-transformed. \*p<0.05; \*\*p<0.01; \*\*\*p<0.001. HMW, high-molecular-weight adiponectin; HMW/total adiponectin, HMW-to-total-adiponectin-ratio.

Appendix

## 7 Acknowledgement

I would like to thank Dr. Christian Herder for his guidance, support and encouragement during the work on my dissertation. Thank you for having been such a wonderful supervisor throughout the past years.

I would also like to acknowledge:

Prof. Dr. Micheal Roden for the possibility to perform my doctoral studies at the German Diabetes Center and for his support of this work as Principal Investigator of the German Diabetes Study

Prof. Dr. Dan Ziegler for his support and helpful feedback to countless questions regading neuropathy examination and electrophysiological testing and for a wonderful cooperation

Julia Kannenberg for many helpful statistical discussions and for her assistance with the preparation of several figures.

Klaus Straßburger for statistical discussions and support with any question regarding the Database.

Ulrike Partke for support and encouragment and many great conversations sharing an office.

AG Inflammation for taking me in and beeing a wonderful team.

Sonja Püttgen, Dr. Alexander Strom, Dr. Julia Szendroedi, Katharina Weber who helped me understand the complex framework of the German Diabetes Study.

Carolin Ostendorf, Leona Peters and Julia Schamarek for patient proofreading.